# Gravitational and electromagnetic field of static and ultrarelativistic objects in nonlocal theory

by

Jose Abraham Pinedo Soto

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Department of Physics University of Alberta

 $\bigodot$ Jose Abraham Pinedo Soto, 2022

### Abstract

This thesis studies solutions of nonlocal modifications of Maxwell and linearized gravity equations. We focus on a wide class of Lorentz invariant theories known as ghost free models in which a form factor of nonlocality is chosen so that no new additional unphysical degrees of freedom are present. Such form factors introduce a length scale  $\ell$  that determines the range in which the effects of nonlocality are important. Using the Green function method we obtain solutions in such theories for stationary fields created by point-like and extended objects. By performing the boost transformations of the obtained stationary solutions and taking the Penrose limit we obtain solutions of the nonlocal theory describing the electromagnetic and gravitational field of ultrarelativistic objects. The key role in this derivation is played by a property of the factorization of the Green functions in the Penrose limit. The properties of electromagnetic and gravitational fields of ultrarelativistic objects are discussed and concrete examples are presented.

### Preface

This thesis is an original work by Jose Pinedo Soto. All results were obtained by using the provided references and nothing else.

Chapters 2 - 4 are based on two research papers [1, 2] which are the result of collaboration with Prof. Valeri Frolov and Dr. Jens Boos. The author of this thesis was substantially involved in every step of the research process. Chapters 1 and 5 present the reader with a general context to understand the relevance of the thesis and give an outlook to future venues of research. Appendixes A to F are complementary information to their corresponding section or chapter.

## Table of Contents

1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Thesis overview	6
<b>2</b>	Maz	well Equations and Their Nonlocal Modification	8
	2.1	Maxwell theory	8
		2.1.1 Equations $\ldots$	8
		2.1.2 Stationary field of point-like objects	9
	2.2	Stationary electromagnetic field of extended objects	11
		2.2.1 Field of a q-pencil in its rest frame	12
		2.2.2 Field of an m-pencil in its rest frame	13
	2.3	Nonlocal Maxwell equations	14
		2.3.1 Action and field equations	14
		2.3.2 Form factors	17
	2.4	Static Green functions	19
	2.5	Stationary solutions for point like sources	21
	2.6	Pencil-like sources	23
	2.7	Summary of chapter 2	26
3	Line	earized Gravity and its Ghost-Free Modification	28
	3.1	Einstein gravity	28
	3.2	Linearized Einstein gravity	29
		3.2.1 Action and field equations	29
		3.2.2 Gauge invariance	30
		3.2.3 Equations in de Donder gauge	31
	3.3	Stationary field of point-like sources	31
	3.4	Linearized higher-dimensional Einstein gravity	34
	3.5	Stationary field of point-like sources in higher dimensions	35
	3.6	Linearized nonlocal gravity	36
	3.7	Nonlocal stationary solutions	39

		3.7.1 Point-like particle	41
	3.8	Pencil-like gravitational sources	42
	3.9	Summary of chapter 3	44
4	Fiel	ld of Ultrarelativistic Objects	45
	4.1	Boost transformation and Penrose limit	45
	4.2	Green functions in the Penrose limit	48
	4.3	Electromagnetic field of ultrarelativistic charged and magnetized objects	50
		4.3.1 Electromagnetic field in the Penrose limit	50
		4.3.2 Properties of solutions	51
	4.4	Gravitational field of ultrarelativistic massive and spinning objects	53
		4.4.1 Scaling properties	53
		4.4.2 Metric	54
	4.5	Gravitational field of ghost-free gyratons	55
		4.5.1 Gyratons in d=3 $\ldots$	56
		4.5.2 Gyratons in $d \ge 4$ dimensions $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	59
	4.6	Summary of chapter 4	60
<b>5</b>	Sun	nmary and Discussion	62
Bi	bliog	graphy	65
Aj	ppen	dix A: Field of a magnetized pencil	71
Aj	ppen	dix B: Darboux basis	<b>74</b>
Aj	ppen	dix C: Gauge invariance of the linearized gravity equations	76
Aj	ppen	dix D: Mass and angular momentum of extended objects	79
Aj	ppen	dix E: "Heat kernel" representation	81
Aj	ppen	dix F: Static infinite-derivative ghost-free Green functions	83

# List of Figures

2.1	Darboux decomposition of $d$ -dimensional space into $n$ mutually orthog-	
	onal Darboux planes $\Pi_a$ and a transverse $z\text{-direction}$ if $\epsilon=1~[1]$	24
4.1	The pencil of length L moves within the two-dimensional $(t,\xi)$ -section	
	of Minkowski space in the frame $S.$	48
4.2	The gravitomagnetic charges on a plane $u = \text{const.}$ of the four-dimensional	
	gyraton in linearized General Relativity as well as linearized $\mathrm{GF}_1$ and	
	$\mathrm{GF}_2$ theory plotted as a function of $\rho/\ell$ . The charges are normalized	
	to the value $Q_0$ encountered in General Relativity	58

# Chapter 1 Introduction

The fundamental theories of theoretical physics such as General Relativity and Maxwell theories are local. In particular, this means that they can be derived from an action S which is of the form

$$S = \int dxL \tag{1.1}$$

were the Lagrangian density L is a function of the field and a finite number of its derivatives calculated at a given point x. In such theories a point-like particle "feels" the field with which it interacts only at the place where it is located. Another important feature of these theories is their local Lorentz invariance. As a result their action S as well as their Lagrangian density L are scalars under coordinate transformations.

However, there exist a long-standing problem with these theories. A static field of a point-like object in the Maxwell theory as well as in linearized gravity is divergent at the origin. This results in the infinity of self-energy of such sources. This classical singularity problem is a manifestation of similar divergences present in their quantum counterparts. In General Relativity this problem is "reincarnated" in a well known hassle: the generic and inevitable existence of singularities in cosmology and inside black holes. One says that the standard General Relativity is ultraviolet (UV) incomplete and it requires a modification in the regime where the spacetime curvature becomes very large.

There are a lot of different modifications of General Relativity which were proposed

in order to solve the singularity problem and to "cure" this fundamental "disease" of General Relativity. One interesting and promising approach is using nonlocal modifications of gravity theory.

The idea of nonlocality in physics is quite old. It has been explored for quite some time [3–11]. More recently the interest in nonlocal theory greatly increased. This is mainly motivated by the development of string theory [12–15]. The main focus of this thesis is the study of the so-called infinite derivative theories. This is a proposed modification of the local equations that preserves the local Lorentz invariance of the theory. At the linearized level the standard  $\Box$  operator is changed to  $f(\Box)\Box$ , where a nonlocal form factor f(z) is chosen such that it does not vanish in the complex plane of z, and hence it has a unique inverse. As a result, no new unphysical degrees of freedom are present, at least at tree level. For this reason, such nonlocal theories are sometimes refereed to as "ghost-free" [16, 17]. Recently, there has been substantial activity devoted to study of nonlocal generalizations of General Relativity. The main motivation behind this study is an attempt to solve the long standing problems of General Relativity: cosmological and black hole singularities.

The nonlocal theories of gravity have appealing UV properties [18, 19]. Linearized solutions of the nonlocal ghost-free gravity equations for stationary objects were derived and discussed in many publications (see Refs. [20, 21] and references therein). It has been demonstrated that in the weak-field regime this class of theories regularizes the gravitational field of point-like sources [21–24] as well as thin brane-like extended objects [20, 25, 26]. Paper [27] contains a nice summary of these results. Discussion of the nonlocal gravity models in the strong-field regime in connection with black holes can be found in [28–32] and in references therein; for cosmological applications see [33, 34]. Nonlocal infinite-derivative form factors have also been explored in quantum theory [35, 36] as well as quantum field theory [37–43].

It should be emphasized that most of the publications devoted to study of the solutions of the nonlocal linearized gravity equations are focused on the four-dimensional theories with static sources. In our work [1] we obtained a far-going generalization of these results. Namely,

- We studied nonlocal linearized gravity equations in arbitrary number of spacetime dimensions;
- We discussed wide class of so-called  $GF_N$  theories, where form factor  $f(\Box)$  is the exponential of the N-th power of the  $\Box$  operator;
- We obtained stationary solutions for sources which besides mass also have spin.

Chapter 3 of the thesis, which is based on the paper [1], contains discussion of these results.

It is interesting that while there are many publications devoted to the linearized nonlocal gravity, the subject of nonlocal modifications of the Maxwell equations remained in the "shadows". However, there exists a well known similarity between the Maxwell equations with those of linearized gravity. To fill this "gap" we studied a class of higher dimensional Lorentz invariant nonlocal generalizations of the Maxwell theory, which (at least at tree level) do not contain unphysical extra degrees of freedom and in this sense they are "ghost-free". Construction of such theories and their properties are discussed in our work [2]. Chapter 2 of this thesis is based on these results.

If one obtains a solution of the field equations for a stationary source in the frame of reference where this source is at rest (rest frame) one can easily find how these solutions look like in a frame which moves with a constant velocity with respect to the rest frame. This is possible whenever one is dealing with a Lorentz invariant theory. In the Maxwell theory the electric field of a point charge is spherically symmetric and its equipotential surfaces are spheres. If such a charge moves with a constant velocity with respect to an observer then its equipotential surfaces are squeezed and take on an elliptic form, which is a direct result of relativistic Lorentz contraction. In the limit when the velocity of the charge tends to the speed of light, this squeezing is so strong that the field of the charge is practically confined to a null plane and becomes similar to a plane wave (see Ref. [44] and references therein).

Similar effects have been studied in gravity and are well known, in fact, the study of the gravitational field of ultrarelativistic particles and beams of light is a very old subject. The first solution describing the gravitational field of beams of light ("pencils") was found by Tolman, Ehrenfest and Podolski in 1931 [45]. These authors used a linear approximation of the Einstein equations. One of their main conclusions was that the gravitational force acting on a massless particle moving in the same direction as the beam of light vanishes. Later, Bonnor [46] presented a solution for the gravitational field produced by a cylindrical beam of a null fluid. This model can be interpreted as a description of a high frequency light beam in the geometric optics approximation when diffraction effects are neglected.<sup>1</sup> The gravitational field of a spinning pencil of light was obtained by Bonnor in 1970 [48], see also Refs. [49, 50]. Higher-dimensional solutions describing the gravitational field of spinning ultrarelativistic objects and light beams were obtained in [51, 52]. The latter work introduced the name "gyraton" for such spinning ultrarelativistic objects, which is now used in the literature quite frequently. There exist different generalizations of standard gyraton solutions, such as solutions for charged gyratons [53], gyratons in asymptotically AdS spacetimes [54], in a generalized Melvin universe with cosmological constant [55], and string gyratons in supergravity [56]. Gyraton solutions of the Einstein equations belong to the wide class of so-called Kundt metrics [57]. A comprehensive discussion of gyratons in the Robinson–Trautman and Kundt classes of metrics can be found in [58-61].

There is another problem that has been widely discussed in the literature and which is closely related to gyratons. In 1970, Aichelburg and Sexl [62] constructed a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>More recent studies of light beams beyond the geometric optics approximation can be found in [47] and references therein.

metric of a massive ultrarelativistic particle. In its rest frame, the gravitational field of such a particle of mass m is described by the Schwarzschild metric. In order to obtain the metric when this particle moves with a very high velocity they applied a boost transformation and considered the limit where the velocity of the object tends to the speed of light, and hence the Lorentz factor  $\gamma$  diverges. They demonstrated that keeping the value of the energy  $E = \gamma m$  fixed yields a limiting metric which is now called the Aichelburg–Sexl solution. For this solution the gravitational field of a particle is localized at the null plane tangent to the null vector of the particle's four-velocity. Later, Penrose [63] demonstrated that this is a generic property of any metric that is boosted to the speed of light, provided the corresponding energy is kept fixed, and this special limiting case has hence been dubbed as the "Penrose limit". Aichelburg–Sexl-type metrics have been widely used for the study of the gravitational interaction of two ultrarelativistic particles as well as black hole production via their collision. The area of the apparent horizon in this process just before the moment of collision was calculated in [64] and has been widely used for estimating black hole formation cross sections in the collision of ultrarelativistic particles (see e.g. [65–69] and references therein).

Since in the Penrose limit the initial mass m of the particle tends to zero, one can obtain the Aichelburg–Sexl metric by starting with a linearized, weak-field gravity solution for a point-like particle. By considering a superposition of such solutions it is easy to construct the gravitational field of extended objects in linearized gravity. In particular, one may consider first a line distribution of mass, and then boost the solution. Due to the Lorentz contraction in the direction of motion the visible size of the body in this direction shrinks. This means that in order to obtain a solution for the ultrarelativistic case featuring a finite energy distribution profile one needs not only to take the Penrose limit keeping  $\gamma m$  constant, but also simultaneously keep the parameter  $L/\gamma$  fixed, where L is the size of the object in the direction of motion as measured on the rest frame. Such a procedure can be applied to a spinning object provided the rotation takes place within the plane orthogonal to the direction of motion. One can show that in such a procedure one reconstructs the linearized gravitational field of a gyraton. This method is described in details in chapter 5 of the book [70].

The main motivation for the study of the fields of ultrarelativistic sources in nonlocal Lorentz invariant gravity is the hope to understand how a small scale modification of gravity might become important for the process of mini black hole formation in the collision of ultrarelativistic particles. For example, it was shown that if the Einstein–Hilbert action is modified by the inclusion of higher-derivative as well as infinite-derivative terms, there exists a mass gap for black hole formation [71–74].

Electromagnetic and linearized gravitational fields of ultrarelativistic objects in the "ghost-free" higher dimensional nonlocal theories were studied in our works [1] and [2]. Solutions of the equations for such sources are discussed in chapter 4 of the thesis which is based on these publications.

#### 1.1 Thesis overview

The thesis is organized as follows. In chapter 2 we start by constructing stationary solutions for point like particles and charged magnetized "pencils" in Maxwell theory. After this we introduce a higher dimensional nonlocal generalization of such a theory. Using the Green function method we construct solutions for the same type of sources in this modified theory. Chapter 3 follows the spirit of the previous chapter by presenting linearized Einstein theory and its generalization for an arbitrary number of dimensions. Solutions for stationary sources are discussed for this theory. We then present a nonlocal action for the linearized gravity and using the Green function method obtain stationary solutions in this theory. In chapter 4 we "boost" the obtained stationary solutions and after taking their Penrose limit we construct solutions describing the field of the ultrarelativistic sources of the nonlocal Maxwell and linearized gravity equations. Properties of these solutions are explored. The last chapter 5 contains summary and discussion of the results presented in the thesis. Several appendices included at the end of the thesis contain details of the calculations and additional useful information.

### Chapter 2

## Maxwell Equations and Their Nonlocal Modification

#### 2.1 Maxwell theory

#### 2.1.1 Equations

In this chapter we discuss nonlocal generalizations of the Maxwell equations and their solutions. These generalizations will be introduced in section 2.3. We shall use a formulation for such a theory in an arbitrary number of spacetime dimensions. However, it is instructive at first to discuss the case of the standard four-dimensional Maxwell theory.

We assume that the background metric is flat such that using Cartesian coordinates  $X^{\mu} = (t, \boldsymbol{x})$  we can write it in the form

$$ds^{2} = \eta_{\mu\nu} dX^{\mu} dX^{\nu} = -dt^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{3} (dx^{i})^{2}. \qquad (2.1)$$

However, in what follows we shall use not only the flat (Cartesian) coordinates but curved coordinates as well. For this purpose it is convenient to write the Maxwell equations in a general covariant form. We denote the metric by  $g_{\mu\nu}$  then one has

$$ds^2 = g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} \,. \tag{2.2}$$

We shall also use the covariant derivatives which we denote by  $\nabla_{\mu}$  or by  $(\ldots)_{;\mu}$ . In Cartesian coordinates one has

$$\nabla_{\mu} = \frac{\partial}{\partial X^{\mu}} \,. \tag{2.3}$$

The Maxwell equations are obtained by varying the following action

$$S_M[A_{\mu}] = -\int \left(\frac{1}{4}F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu} - A_{\mu}j^{\mu}\right)\sqrt{-g} \ d^4x \,, \qquad (2.4)$$

over  $A_{\mu}$ . Here  $F_{\mu\nu}$  is the electromagnetic field strength tensor

$$F_{\mu\nu} = \nabla_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \nabla_{\nu}A_{\mu} \,. \tag{2.5}$$

In these definitions we have used Heaviside units and put the speed of light equal to unity,  $c \equiv 1$ . The variation of the action 2.4 gives

$$\nabla_{\nu}F^{\nu\mu} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}}\partial_{\nu}(\sqrt{-g}F^{\nu\mu}) = j^{\mu}.$$
 (2.6)

In the Cartesian coordinates these equations reduce to

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial X^{\nu}}F^{\nu\mu} = j^{\mu}.$$
(2.7)

After substituting the expression for the field strength F in terms of the vector potential A into (2.7) one gets

$$\Box A^{\nu} - \nabla^{\nu} \nabla_{\mu} A^{\mu} = j^{\nu} \,. \tag{2.8}$$

Maxwell equations are invariant under the gauge transformation  $A_{\mu} \rightarrow A_{\mu} + \lambda_{\mu}$ , where  $\lambda$  is an arbitrary function of coordinates. Using this freedom one can impose the following gauge fixing condition ("Lorenz gauge")  $\nabla_{\mu}A^{\mu} = 0$  which implies

$$\Box A_{\mu} = j_{\mu} \,. \tag{2.9}$$

#### 2.1.2 Stationary field of point-like objects

The Maxwell equations are linear. This means that it is sufficient to find a solution for a stationary point-like source. The field of an extended object can be obtained by integrating such a solution over the volume occupied by the object with a proper weight representing the charge and magnetic moment density distributions. Let  $X^{\mu} = (t, \boldsymbol{x})$  be Cartesian coordinates. Let us consider the following stationary conserved current

$$j^{\mu} = q \delta^{\mu}_{t} \delta^{(3)}(\boldsymbol{x}) + \delta^{\mu}_{i} M^{ik} \partial_{k} \delta^{(3)}(\boldsymbol{x}) .$$
(2.10)

Here, q is the charge of the point particle and  $M_{ik} = -M_{ki}$  is a constant, antisymmetric matrix that parameterizes the particle's intrinsic magnetic moment. This current obeys the conservation law  $\partial_{\mu}j^{\mu} = 0$ .

We write the electromagnetic potential in the form

$$A_{\mu}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \delta^{t}_{\mu}\varphi(\boldsymbol{x}) + \delta^{i}_{\mu}A_{i}(\boldsymbol{x}), \qquad (2.11)$$

and impose the Lorentz gauge condition on it  $\partial_{\mu}A^{\mu} = 0$ . Then the Maxwell equations take the form

$$\Delta \varphi = -q\delta^{(3)}(\boldsymbol{x}), \qquad (2.12)$$

$$\Delta A_i = M_i^{\ k} \partial_k \delta^{(3)}(\boldsymbol{x}) \,. \tag{2.13}$$

Here  $\triangle$  is a flat Laplacian

$$\Delta = \sum_{i=1}^{3} \partial_{x_i}^2 \,. \tag{2.14}$$

Let us denote by  $G(\boldsymbol{x})$  the Green function of the Laplace operator

$$\Delta G(\boldsymbol{x}) = \delta^{(3)}(\boldsymbol{x}) \,. \tag{2.15}$$

One has

$$G(\boldsymbol{x}) = \frac{1}{4\pi |\boldsymbol{x}|} \,. \tag{2.16}$$

Then solutions of the field equations (2.12) and (2.13) are

$$\varphi(\boldsymbol{x}) = q G(\boldsymbol{x}), \quad A_i(\boldsymbol{x}) = -M_i^{\ k} \partial_k G(\boldsymbol{x}).$$
 (2.17)

The potential 1-form  $\mathbf{A} = A_{\mu} dX^{\mu}$  then takes the form

$$A_{\mu} dx^{\mu} = \varphi dt + A_i dx^i$$
  
=  $q G(r) dt - M_i^{\ k} \partial_k G(\boldsymbol{x}) dx^i$ . (2.18)

These general expressions can be simplified. Let us note that the three-dimensional matrix  $M_{ij}$  which enters the expression for the potential  $A_i$  is antisymmetric and it has constant coefficients. By using rigid three-dimensional rotations such an object can be written in the following canonical form (see appendix B)

$$\boldsymbol{M} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & m \\ 0 & -m & 0 \end{pmatrix} .$$
 (2.19)

We denote the corresponding three-dimensional orthogonal coordinates (Darboux basis) as  $(\xi, \vec{x}_{\perp})$ . Two coordinates  $\vec{x}_{\perp}$  span the two-dimensional plane  $\Pi$  orthogonal to  $\xi$ -axes.

Consider an electric current loop in the plane  $\Pi$  with the center at a point  $\xi = \vec{x}_{\perp} = 0$ . If I is the current in the loop and S is its area then the dipole magnetic moment of the current loop is m = IS. The current for the point-like source which enters (2.10) can be obtained as a limit in which the radius of the current loop becomes infinitely small while the value of the dipole magnetic moment is kept constant.

# 2.2 Stationary electromagnetic field of extended objects

Since the Maxwell equations are linear their solutions for extended charged and/or magnetized objects can be obtained by superimposing the described solutions for the corresponding point-like objects. In other words, they can be written as integrals containing the Green functions multiplied by the currents which enter the right-hand side of the Maxwell equations. In many cases when the current distributions possess sufficient symmetry these integrals can be calculated in an explicit form (see e.g. [75]). In this section we present the expressions for the electromagnetic field for two special cases which will be used in our further discussion of the field of ultrarelativistic objects. Namely, we consider electrically charged and magnetized pencil-like objects. In both cases the transverse size of the pencil is infinitely small. Later we consider two reference frames: one is the frame where the object is at rest and the other one in which the object moves with constant velocity. In order to distinguish them we denote the rest frame by  $\bar{S}$  and the moving frame by S. For this reason from now on we denote the coordinates (and other objects) in the rest frame with a bar over them, and omit the bar when we shall be dealing with the moving frame. Hence, we denote the length of the pencil as measured in the rest frame by  $\bar{L}$ . We specify these coordinates  $\bar{X}^{\mu}$  in the rest frame such that one of the spatial axes is directed along the linear extension of the pencil, and we denote this coordinate by  $\bar{\xi}$ , while the coordinates in the directions orthogonal to the pencil are labeled  $\vec{x}_{\perp}$ . Thus we have

$$\bar{X}^{\mu} = (\bar{t}, \bar{\xi}, \vec{x}_{\perp}).$$
 (2.20)

We choose the origin of the coordinate system such that the end points of the pencil are located at  $\bar{\xi} = \pm \bar{L}/2$ . In what follows, we shall boost the pencil in the  $\bar{\xi}$ -direction.

We consider two types of pencils. One is a uniformly charged pencil with a total electric charge  $\bar{q}$ , and the second type corresponds to a uniformly magnetized pencil with a total magnetic moment  $\bar{m}$ . To distinguish these cases we refer to them as q-pencil and m-pencil, respectively.

#### 2.2.1 Field of a q-pencil in its rest frame

We start with the case of a q-pencil and assume that its charge density distribution is uniform. If  $\bar{q}$  is the electric charge and  $\bar{L}$  the length of the pencil, then its charge density is

$$\bar{\lambda} = \frac{\bar{q}}{\bar{L}} \delta^{(2)}(\vec{x}_{\perp}) \Theta(\bar{\xi}| - \bar{L}/2, \bar{L}/2) , \qquad (2.21)$$

and the 4-current  $\bar{j}^{\mu}$  takes the form

$$\bar{j}^{\mu} = \delta^{\mu}_{\bar{t}} \bar{\lambda} \,. \tag{2.22}$$

Here  $\Theta(x|x_{-}, x_{+}) = \theta(x - x_{-})\theta(x_{+} - x)$  is a step function equal to 1 in the interval  $(x_{-}, x_{+})$  and zero outside it. In the Coulomb gauge  $\partial_{j}A^{j} = 0$  we may choose the vector potential to be of the form<sup>1</sup>

$$\boldsymbol{A} \equiv \bar{A}_{\mu} \mathrm{d}\bar{X}^{\mu} = \bar{\phi} \mathrm{d}\bar{t} \,. \tag{2.23}$$

Solving the field equation for the potential  $\phi$ ,

$$\bar{\Delta}\bar{\phi} = -\bar{\lambda}\,,\tag{2.24}$$

one finds

$$\bar{\phi}(\bar{\xi},\rho) = \frac{\bar{q}}{4\pi\bar{L}} \int_{-\bar{L}/2}^{\bar{L}/2} \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{\xi}'}{\sqrt{(\bar{\xi}-\bar{\xi}')^2 + \rho^2}},$$
(2.25)

where  $\rho = |\vec{x}_{\perp}|$ . Taking the integral one obtains

$$\bar{\phi}(\bar{\xi},\rho) = \frac{\bar{q}}{4\pi\bar{L}} \ln\left(\frac{\bar{\xi}_{+} + \sqrt{\bar{\xi}_{+}^{2}} + \rho^{2}}{\bar{\xi}_{-} + \sqrt{\bar{\xi}_{-}^{2}} + \rho^{2}}\right).$$
(2.26)

We defined  $\bar{\xi}_{\pm} = \bar{\xi} \pm \bar{L}/2$  for convenience.

#### 2.2.2 Field of an m-pencil in its rest frame

Let us denote by  $\{\rho, \varphi\}$  polar coordinates in the plane orthogonal to the pencil. Then the Minkowski metric takes the form<sup>2</sup>

$$ds^{2} = -d\bar{t}^{2} + d\bar{\xi}^{2} + d\rho^{2} + \rho^{2}d\varphi^{2}. \qquad (2.27)$$

To obtain the field of the m-pencil let us consider first the magnetic field of a solenoid with current density

$$\boldsymbol{J} = \bar{J}_{\varphi} \mathrm{d}\varphi,$$
  
$$\bar{J}_{\varphi} = \frac{\bar{m}}{\pi \bar{L}R} \delta(\rho - R) \Theta(\bar{\xi}| - \bar{L}/2, \bar{L}/2).$$
  
(2.28)

 $<sup>{}^{1}</sup>A$  as a differential form is invariant under Lorentz transformations. For this reason we omit the bar on any bold-faced objects here and in what follows.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Recall that the angular  $\varphi$ -component do not refer to an orthonormal basis but rather the  $\partial_{\varphi}$ -vector with norm  $\rho$ . Care should be taken when comparing our results to the literature, where sometimes we find expressions evaluated in orthonormal frames with the unit basis vector  $\hat{\varphi} = \partial_{\varphi}/\rho$ .

Here R is the radius of the solenoid,  $\bar{L}$  is its length measured in the frame  $\bar{S}$ , and  $\bar{m}$  denotes the magnetic moment of the solenoid which is proportional to the magnetic flux inside of it. Since the magnetic field is static and axially symmetric one can put  $\bar{A} \equiv \bar{A}_{\mu} d\bar{X}^{\mu} = \bar{A}_{\varphi} d\varphi$ , and the potential  $\bar{A}_{\varphi}$  in the limit  $R \to 0$  is

$$\bar{A}_{\varphi} = \frac{\bar{m}}{4\pi\bar{L}} \left( \frac{\bar{\xi}_{+}}{\sqrt{\bar{\xi}_{+}^{2} + \rho^{2}}} - \frac{\bar{\xi}_{-}}{\sqrt{\bar{\xi}_{-}^{2} + \rho^{2}}} \right) .$$
(2.29)

Here, as earlier,  $\bar{\xi}_{\pm} = \bar{\xi} \pm \bar{L}/2$ . For details of this calculation we refer to Appendix A. One can also check that the expression (2.29) coincides with the magnetic field of a monopole–anti-monopole pair located on the  $\bar{\xi}$ -axis at the points separated by distance  $\bar{L}$ .

#### 2.3 Nonlocal Maxwell equations

#### 2.3.1 Action and field equations

We present now a far going generalization of the results presented in the previous section. Namely, we consider a spacetime with arbitrary number of dimensions  $D \ge 4$  and we do not assume that the electric charge and magnetic moment densities are constant. We shall also obtain results valid for both higher-dimensional Maxwell theory as well as for its nonlocal ghost-free generalization.

Consider *D*-dimensional flat spacetime with Cartesian coordinates  $X^{\mu} = (t, \boldsymbol{x})$ , with  $\boldsymbol{x} = (x^i), i = 1, \dots d$ , and d = D - 1. The Minkowski metric is

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{d} (dx^{i})^{2} = -dt^{2} + dx^{2}. \qquad (2.30)$$

Let us consider a vector field  $A_{\mu}$  obeying linear equations. We assume that these equations can be derived from an action and impose the following conditions on it:

1. The action  $S[A_{\mu}]$  is a scalar and it can be written in the form

$$S[A_{\mu}] = \int \mathrm{d}^{D} x \sqrt{g} L \,. \tag{2.31}$$

where L is the Lagrangian density;

2. L is bilinear in  $A_{\mu}$ 

$$L = A_{\mu} \mathcal{O}^{\mu\nu} A_{\nu} \,, \tag{2.32}$$

where  $\mathcal{O}^{\mu\nu}$  is a symmetric rank two tensor operator constructed from the metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$  and covariant derivatives  $\nabla_{\mu}$ ;

3. The action  $S[A_{\mu}]$  is gauge invariant, that is it is invariant under transformations

$$A_{\mu}(x) \to \hat{A}_{\mu}(x) = A_{\mu}(x) + \lambda_{,\mu}(x),$$
 (2.33)

where  $\lambda(x)$  is an arbitrary function.

Since in the flat spacetime  $g_{\mu\nu}$  and  $\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}$  are the only symmetric rank two tensors that can be constructed form the metric and covariant derivatives the operator  $\mathcal{O}^{\mu\nu}$ which enters relation (2.32) has the following form

$$\mathcal{O}^{\mu\nu} = h(\Box)g^{\mu\nu} + f(\Box)\nabla^{\mu}\nabla^{\nu}. \qquad (2.34)$$

In a flat spacetime and in the Cartesian coordinates one has  $g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu}$  and  $\nabla_{\mu} = \partial/\partial X^{\mu}$ , but it is convenient to work with a covariant form of the action. One only needs to remember that in this case the operators  $\nabla_{\mu}$  commute and their action on the metric vanishes,  $\nabla_{\lambda}g_{\mu\nu} = 0$ . Let us also emphasize that we shall use the action solely for deriving the field equations for  $A_{\mu}$  and for that reason one may integrate by parts without considering the contribution of the boundary terms.

We denote by  $S[\hat{A}_{\mu}]$  the action (2.31) for the field  $\hat{A}_{\mu}$  defined by (2.33). Then one has

$$\delta_{\lambda}S \equiv S[\hat{A}_{\mu}] - S[A_{\mu}] = \int \mathrm{d}^{D}x\sqrt{g} J \,, \qquad (2.35)$$

$$J = -\lambda \left[ h(\Box) + f(\Box) \Box \right] \nabla^{\mu} A_{\mu} + \frac{1}{2} \lambda \Box \left[ h(\Box) + f(\Box) \Box \right] \lambda .$$
 (2.36)

Let us consider first the second term in J which is quadratic in the gauge function  $\lambda$ . Since this function is arbitrary, the last term vanishes only if

$$h(\Box) = -f(\Box)\Box. \tag{2.37}$$

However, under this condition the first term on the right-hand side of (2.36) which is linear in  $\lambda$  vanishes as well. Hence the condition (2.37) guarantees that the action (2.31)-(2.34) is gauge invariant. As a result the action for nonlocal higher dimensional modification of the Maxwell theory takes the form

$$S[A_{\mu}] = -\frac{1}{2} \int \mathrm{d}^{D} x \sqrt{g} A_{\mu} f(\Box) [g^{\mu\nu} \Box - \nabla^{\mu} \nabla^{\nu}] A_{\nu} \,. \tag{2.38}$$

After integration by parts one can write the action in the form

$$S[A_{\mu}] = -\int d^{D}x \sqrt{g} \left[ \frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} f(\Box) F^{\mu\nu} - j^{\mu} A_{\mu} \right] ,$$
  

$$F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu} A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu} A_{\mu} .$$
(2.39)

We added to this action a term describing an interaction the electromagnetic field with a conserved external current  $j^{\mu}$ . The operator  $f(\Box)$  in this action is called a form factor, and its precise form specifies a nonlocal model.

The D-dimensional version of the local Maxwell theory can be easily obtained as a special case of the action (2.39). It is sufficient to impose one more condition, namely to require that

• The field equations for the field  $A_{\mu}$  obtained from the action (2.31) are not higher than the second order in derivatives.

This condition implies that  $f(\Box)$  is in fact a constant. One can always put this constant to be equal to 1 by simply re-scaling the field variables  $A_{\mu}$ . The action for the local Maxwell field in *D*-dimensional spacetime is

$$S[A_{\mu}] = -\int d^{D}x \sqrt{g} \left[ \frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} - j^{\mu} A_{\mu} \right] .$$
 (2.40)

The field equations obtained by varying the action (2.39) with respect to  $A_{\mu}$  are

$$f(\Box)\nabla_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu} = j^{\nu}, \qquad (2.41)$$

$$\partial_{[\rho} F_{\mu\nu]} = 0. \qquad (2.42)$$

The first of these equations is obtained by the variation of the action (2.39). The second equation implies that locally  $F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu}$ . Inserting this expression into the first equation one finds

$$f(\Box) \left(\Box A^{\nu} - \nabla^{\nu} \nabla_{\mu} A^{\mu}\right) = j^{\nu}.$$
(2.43)

We may now exploit the gauge invariance in  $A_{\mu}$  to fix the gauge to the convenient choice ("Lorenz gauge")  $\nabla_{\mu}A^{\mu} = 0$  which implies

$$f(\Box)\Box A_{\mu} = j_{\mu}. \tag{2.44}$$

From now on we shall work exclusively in the Lorenz gauge.

#### 2.3.2 Form factors

Nontrivial generalizations of the Maxwell theory can be obtained if the form factor is not a constant but it is a nontrivial function of the box-operator. For discussion of such cases it is convenient to use the following procedure. Let us first consider an analytic function f(z) of a complex variable z. Such a function can be written in the form

$$f(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} f_n z^n \,.$$
 (2.45)

The operator  $f(\Box)$  is obtained from f(z) by substituting  $z \to \Box$ .

In the case when only a finite number q of terms is present in the series (2.45) the form-factor function is a polynomial of order q

$$P_q(z) = z^q + f_{q-1}z^{q-1} + \dots + f_1z + f_0.$$
(2.46)

The corresponding field equations (2.44) are higher derivative modification of the Maxwell theory. In a general case such models have the following common problem. A polynomial of order q has q zeroes  $z_j$ ,  $j = 1, \ldots q$  in the complex plane of a variable  $z^{3}$ . As a result the inverse function of  $zP_q(z)$  which enters the equation (2.44) has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Some of these zeroes can coincide. For simplicity, we do not consider such cases here.

q+1 poles so that one has

$$\frac{1}{zP_q(z)} = \frac{C_0}{z} + \sum_{j=1}^q \frac{C_j}{z - z_j} \,. \tag{2.47}$$

Each of such poles corresponds to a propagating degree of freedom of the field  $A_{\mu}$ .

In a general case if one combines all the terms in the right-hand side one gets the following expression

$$\frac{C_0}{z} + \sum_{j=1}^q \frac{C_j}{z - z_j} = \frac{Q_q}{z P_q(z)} \,. \tag{2.48}$$

Here  $Q_q(z)$  is a polynomial of order q. Relation (2.47) implies that in fact  $Q_q(z) = 1$ . This imposes q+1 conditions on the coefficients  $C_0$  and  $C_j$ , which uniquely determine them. In particular, the condition that  $Q_q(z)$  does not contain  $z^q$  implies that

$$C_0 + \sum_{j=1}^q C_j = 0.$$
 (2.49)

For the local Maxwell theory  $P_q(z) = 1$  so that  $C_0 = 1$  and  $C_{j\geq 1} = 0$ . Let us keep the condition  $C_0 \geq 0$  for a nontrivial polynomial  $P_q(z)$ . Then relation (2.49) shows that at least some of the residues  $C_{j\geq 1}$  should be negative. The corresponding unphysical modes are known as ghosts.

Recently it was proposed that this fundamental problem of the higher-derivative models can be solved by considering special nonlocal modifications of the corresponding local theory [16, 17]. Namely, one can consider such form factors f(z) which are regular and do not have zeroes in the total complex plane. Consider the function  $f(z) = \exp[P(z)]$ , where P(z) is an entire function. Notice that this form factor has no zeroes since P(z) is everywhere holomorphic and therefore the exponent is well defined in the whole complex plane. This means that the inverse function zf(z) does not introduce new poles.

This class of theories is often referred to as "ghost-free" as they do not introduce new unphysicall degrees of freedom. To make our consideration more concrete we restrict ourselves by considering the form factors of the following form

$$f(\Box) = \exp\left[(-\ell^2 \Box)^N\right], \quad \ell > 0.$$
(2.50)

Here N is a positive integer number and  $\ell > 0$  is a characteristic scale of nonlocality which is estimated to be  $\ell < 10^{-20}$ m [76]. We call nonlocal models with these form factors GF<sub>N</sub> theories. These form factors are choosen so that in the limiting case of  $\ell \to 0$  one recovers the local theory since f(0) = 1. The latter condition also guarantees that the residue of the pole of zf(z) at z = 1 is 1, and such a theory correctly reproduces the properties of the corresponding local theory in the infrared regime.

#### 2.4 Static Green functions

Our next step consists of finding solutions that describe the electromagnetic field of stationary sources. Namely we assume the current  $j^{\nu}$  which enters the right-hand side of the equation (2.44) does not depend of time t. We also assume that there are no free propagating electromagnetic waves. Since the field does not depend on time one may substitute the  $\Box$ -operator by the Laplace operator

$$\Delta = \nabla^2 = \sum_{i=1}^d \partial_i^2.$$
 (2.51)

In both local and nonlocal cases the solution of the field equations for a stationary sources can be found by using the corresponding Green function. For the nonlocal theory such a Green function is a solution of the following differential equation:

$$f(\triangle) \triangle \mathcal{G}_d(\boldsymbol{x}' - \boldsymbol{x}) = -\delta^{(d)}(\boldsymbol{x}' - \boldsymbol{x}).$$
(2.52)

Here and later we use the notation  $\mathcal{G}_d(\boldsymbol{x})$  for the Green function of the nonlocal theory. For the local theory it coincides with the usual Green function  $G_d(\boldsymbol{x})$ . For a  $\mathrm{GF}_N$  theory one has

$$f(\Delta) = \exp[(-\ell^2 \Delta)^N].$$
(2.53)

Using the Fourier transformation one can obtain a useful representation of a static Green function  $\mathcal{G}_d$ . In this subsection we describe its form following the paper [73].

We denote the *d*-dimensional vector of momentum by  $\mathbf{k} = (k_1, \ldots, k_d)$  and write

$$\mathcal{G}_d(\boldsymbol{x}' - \boldsymbol{x}) = \int \frac{d^d \mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^d} e^{i\mathbf{k}(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{x}')} \bar{\mathcal{G}}_d(\mathbf{k}).$$
(2.54)

Here  $\mathbf{kx} = \sum_{j=1}^{d} k_j x^j$ . Substituting this expression into the equation (2.52) and using a similar Fourier transform representation for the delta function

$$\delta^{d}(\boldsymbol{x}'-\boldsymbol{x}) = \int \frac{d^{d}\mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^{d}} e^{i\mathbf{k}(\boldsymbol{x}-\boldsymbol{x}')}, \qquad (2.55)$$

one gets

$$\bar{\mathcal{G}}_d(\mathbf{k}) = \frac{1}{k^2 f(-k^2)}.$$

Let us denote the angle between vectors  $\boldsymbol{k}$  and  $\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{x}'$  by  $\theta$ , then

$$kx = kr\cos\theta, \quad k = |k|, \quad r = |x - x'|,$$
 (2.56)

and the Green function reads

$$\mathcal{G}_d(x-x') = A_{d-2} \int_0^\infty \frac{dk}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{k^{d-3}}{f(-k^2)} \int_0^\pi d\theta \, \sin^{d-2}\theta \, e^{ikr\cos(\theta)} \,. \tag{2.57}$$

Here

$$A_{d-2} = 2\frac{\pi^{(d-1)/2}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)},$$
(2.58)

is the area of a unit sphere  $S^{d-2}$ .

Integration over  $\theta$  gives the expression for the Green function  $\mathcal{G}_d(x, x')$  in terms of an integral containing the Bessel function

$$\mathcal{G}_d(x,x') = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^\infty \frac{dk}{kf(-k^2)} \left(\frac{k}{2\pi r}\right)^{\frac{d}{2}-1} J_{\frac{d}{2}-1}(kr) \,. \tag{2.59}$$

The Green function  $\mathcal{G}_d(x, x')$  depends only on the distance r between points. After changing of the integration variable z = kr one gets

$$\mathcal{G}_d(r) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d/2} r^{d-2}} \int_0^\infty dz \, \frac{z^{\frac{d-4}{2}}}{f(-z^2/r^2)} \, J_{\frac{d}{2}-1}(z) \,. \tag{2.60}$$

Here  $d \ge 3$ . For the local Maxwell theory one has f = 1. In this case the integral in (2.60) is a constant. Calculating this integral one reproduces the standard expression for a local Green function

$$G_d(x, x') = \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} - 1\right)}{4\pi^{d/2}r^{d-2}}.$$
(2.61)

There is also a recursive formula relating the Green functions in the spaces of different dimensions

$$\mathcal{G}_{d+2}(r) = -\frac{1}{2\pi r} \frac{\partial \mathcal{G}_d(r)}{\partial r} \,. \tag{2.62}$$

This result and its derivation can be found in [73]. This means that if the Green function is known for d = 3, 4 then the higher-dimensional Green functions can be obtained by using Eq. (2.62). This property allows one to find the Green functions in an explicit form for some special nonlocal models. For example, in the simplest case of  $GF_1$  theory one has

$$\mathcal{G}_3(r) = \frac{1}{4\pi r} \operatorname{erf}\left(\frac{r}{2\ell}\right) \,, \tag{2.63}$$

$$\mathcal{G}_4(r) = \frac{1}{4\pi^2 r^2} \left[ 1 - e^{-r^2/(4\ell^2)} \right] \,, \tag{2.64}$$

where  $\operatorname{erf}(z)$  denotes the error function [77]. In the limit  $\ell \to 0$  one recovers the wellknown local expressions. Expressions for Green functions  $\mathcal{G}_d^N(r)$  for some of  $GF_N$ theories can be found in [1]. We collect these results in the appendix F.

An important property of the Green functions in such nonlocal ghost-free theories is that they are regular at r = 0. This can be demonstrated by using the expansion of the Bessel function in (2.59) for small r. Additional information about nonlocal static Green functions can be found in [27].

#### 2.5 Stationary solutions for point like sources

Let us consider a conserved stationary external current

$$j^{\mu} = \delta^{\mu}_t q \delta^{(d)}(\boldsymbol{x}) + \delta^{\mu}_i M^{ik} \partial_k \delta^{(d)}(\boldsymbol{x}) \,.$$
(2.65)

Here, q is the charge of the point particle and  $M_{ik} = -M_{ki}$  is a constant, antisymmetric matrix that parametrizes the particle's intrinsic magnetic moment.

Let us write  $d = 2k + \sigma$ , where  $\sigma = 0$  if d is even and  $\sigma = 1$  if d is odd. Any skew symmetric  $d \times d$  matrix can be put in a block diagonal form by means of a rigid rotation in the corresponding d-dimensional space [78–80]. In this new Darboux coordinate basis the matrix  $\boldsymbol{M}$  has the form (see appendix B)

$$\boldsymbol{M} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{m}_{1} & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \boldsymbol{m}_{2} & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots \\ 0 & \dots & \dots & \boldsymbol{m}_{k} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} .$$
(2.66)

Here  $\boldsymbol{m}_a$  are  $2 \times 2$  matrices

$$\boldsymbol{m}_a = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & m_a \\ -m_a & 0 \end{bmatrix} . \tag{2.67}$$

The last column and row in (2.66) which contain zeroes are present when  $\sigma = 1$ and they are absent for  $\sigma = 0$ . One can identify k quantities  $m_a$  with independent components of the magnetic moment. In the four dimensional spacetime when d = 3only one block is present and there is only one component of the magnetic moment.

We write the electromagnetic potential as

$$A_{\mu}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \delta^{t}_{\mu}\varphi(\boldsymbol{x}) + \delta^{i}_{\mu}A_{i}(\boldsymbol{x}), \qquad (2.68)$$

then the field equations take the form

$$f(\Delta)\Delta\varphi = -q\delta^{(d)}(\boldsymbol{x}), \qquad (2.69)$$

$$f(\triangle) \triangle A_i = M_i^{\ k} \partial_k \delta^{(d)}(\boldsymbol{x}) \,. \tag{2.70}$$

Solutions of these equations can be written in terms of the Green function and they are

$$\varphi(\boldsymbol{x}) = q \, \mathcal{G}_d(\boldsymbol{x}), \quad A_i(\boldsymbol{x}) = -M_i{}^k \partial_k \mathcal{G}_d(\boldsymbol{x}).$$
 (2.71)

The potential 1-form  $\boldsymbol{A} = A_{\mu} dX^{\mu}$  then takes the form

$$A_{\mu} dX^{\mu} = \varphi dt + A_{i} dx^{i}$$
  
=  $q \mathcal{G}_{d}^{N}(r) dt - M_{i}^{k} \partial_{k} \mathcal{G}_{d}(\boldsymbol{x}) dx^{i}$ . (2.72)

Using the relation

$$\partial_i \mathcal{G}_d(\boldsymbol{x}) = \frac{x_i}{r} \partial_r \mathcal{G}_d(\boldsymbol{x}) = -2\pi x_i \mathcal{G}_{d+2}(\boldsymbol{x}), \qquad (2.73)$$

we may also write

$$A_{\mu} \mathrm{d}X^{\mu} = q \,\mathcal{G}_d^N(r) \mathrm{d}t + 2\pi M_i^{\ k} x_k \mathcal{G}_{d+2}(\boldsymbol{x}) \mathrm{d}x^i \,. \tag{2.74}$$

#### 2.6 Pencil-like sources

Let us discuss now a special type of higher-dimensional extended charged and magnetized objects which are similar to the four-dimensional pencil-type sources. For this purpose we single out one spatial coordinate which we denote by  $\bar{\xi}$ . This will be a direction of the pencil. We denote the coordinates as  $\bar{X}^{\mu} = (\bar{t}, \bar{\xi}, \boldsymbol{x}_{\perp})$  and write the metric in the form

$$ds^{2} = -d\bar{t}^{2} + d\bar{\xi}^{2} + d\boldsymbol{x}_{\perp}^{2}. \qquad (2.75)$$

As earlier, we denote quantities calculated in the source's rest frame  $\overline{S}$  with bars. The space orthogonal to  $\overline{\xi}$  is (d-1)-dimensional and we denote  $d-1 = 2n + \epsilon$ . Here  $\epsilon = 0$  if d is odd and  $\epsilon = 1$  if d is even. The metric of this space is

$$d\boldsymbol{x}_{\perp}^{2} = \sum_{j=1}^{d-1} (dx_{\perp}^{j})^{2} \,.$$
(2.76)

In the transverse space with coordinates  $x_{\perp}^{j}$ , we choose *n* mutually orthogonal twoplanes  $\Pi_{a}$ , a = 1, ..., n. If *d* is odd and  $\epsilon = 0$  these *n* two-planes span the complete transverse space. For *d* even one has  $\epsilon = 1$  and in order to fully span the transverse space, besides *n* two-planes, there exist one more one-dimensional direction. We denote the corresponding coordinate by *z*; see Fig. 2.1 for a visualization of this decomposition. In a general case certainly there is an ambiguity in the choice of a set of twoplanes. We assume that for a given antisymmetric matrix M the planes  $\Pi_a$  coincide with eigen two-planes of this matrix. In particular, this means that the current (2.65) has non-vanishing components only in the directions transverse to  $\bar{\xi}$ . In four spacetime dimensions, where n = 1, this assumption implies that the vector of the magnetic moment generated by the current is directed along the  $\bar{\xi}$ -direction. The above condition imposed on  $M_{ij}$  plays a similar role in higher dimensions. It is convenient to use the Darboux coordinates associated with two-planes  $\Pi_a$ . Namely, we denote by  $(y_a, \hat{y}_a)$  orthonormal coordinates in each of the two-planes  $\Pi_a$ , so that the metric takes the form

$$ds^{2} = -d\bar{t}^{2} + d\bar{\xi}^{2} + \sum_{a=1}^{n} (dy_{a}^{2} + d\hat{y}_{a}^{2}) + \epsilon \, dz^{2} \,.$$
(2.77)



Figure 2.1: Darboux decomposition of *d*-dimensional space into *n* mutually orthogonal Darboux planes  $\Pi_a$  and a transverse *z*-direction if  $\epsilon = 1$  [1]

In what follows it is also convenient to introduce polar coordinates  $\{\rho_a, \varphi_a\}$  in each of the two-planes  $\Pi_a$  related to  $(y_a, \hat{y}_a)$  as follows

$$y_a = \rho_a \cos \varphi_a, \quad \hat{y}_a = \rho_a \sin \varphi_a.$$
 (2.78)

In these coordinates the metric takes the form

$$ds^{2} = -d\bar{t}^{2} + d\bar{\xi}^{2} + \sum_{a=1}^{n} (d\rho_{a}^{2} + \rho_{a}^{2}d\varphi_{a}^{2}) + \epsilon dz^{2}, \qquad (2.79)$$

and the field of the point-like source (2.74) can be expressed as

$$\bar{A}_{\mu} d\bar{X}^{\mu} = \bar{q} \, \mathcal{G}_{d}(\bar{r}) d\bar{t} - 2\pi \mathcal{G}_{d+2}(\bar{r}) \sum_{a=1}^{n} \bar{m}_{a} \rho_{a}^{2} d\varphi_{a} ,$$
$$\bar{r}^{2} = \bar{\xi}^{2} + \boldsymbol{x}_{\perp}^{2} = \bar{\xi}^{2} + \sum_{a=1}^{n} \rho_{a}^{2} + \epsilon z^{2} .$$
(2.80)

Now we want to construct a solution for a stationary charged and magnetized higher dimensional extended object. For simplicity we limit our consideration to charged and/or magnetized pencils whose transverse charge and magnetic moment densities are  $\delta$ -shaped, but we allow a density profile in the pre-boosted  $\bar{\xi}$ -direction to be arbitrary functions of  $\bar{\xi}$ . We denote these densities by  $\bar{\lambda}(\bar{\xi})$  and  $\bar{\mu}_a(\bar{\xi})$  for the charged and magnetized pencils, respectively. Then, the conserved external current takes the following form:

$$j^{\mu} = \delta^{\mu}_{\bar{t}}\lambda(\bar{\xi})\delta^{(d-1)}(\boldsymbol{x}_{\perp}) + \delta^{\mu}_{i}\bar{\mu}^{ik}(\bar{\xi})\partial_{k}\delta^{(d-1)}(\boldsymbol{x}).$$
(2.81)

We shall make the following additional assumptions

- The antisymmetric matrix function  $\bar{\mu}^{ik}(\bar{\xi})$  is orthogonal to the  $\bar{\xi}$  direction,  $\bar{\mu}^{i\bar{\xi}}(\bar{\xi}) = 0;$
- The two-dimensional eigen planes of the antisymmetric matrix function  $\bar{\mu}^{ik}(\bar{\xi})$ are parallel propagated along  $\bar{\xi}$  axis.

These assumptions allow one to use Darboux coordinates  $(y_a, \hat{y}_a)$  which are also parallel propagating along  $\bar{\xi}$ . Consider a Darboux plane  $\Pi_a$  and denote by

$$\boldsymbol{e}^{(a)} = e^{(a)i}\partial_{x^i} = \partial_{y^a}, \quad \boldsymbol{e}^{(\hat{a})} = e^{(\hat{a})i}\partial_{x^i} = \partial_{\hat{y}^a}, \quad (2.82)$$

a pair of orthonormal vectors in it. The one-forms dual to these vectors are

$$\boldsymbol{\omega}^{(a)} = \omega_i^{(a)} dx^i = dy^a, \quad \boldsymbol{\omega}^{(\hat{a})} = \omega_i^{(\hat{a})} dx^i = d\hat{y}^a.$$
(2.83)

The volume element in the *a*-th Darboux frame is

$$\epsilon^{(a)} = \boldsymbol{\omega}^{(a)} \wedge \boldsymbol{\omega}^{(\hat{a})} \,. \tag{2.84}$$

Then one has

$$\bar{\mu}_{ik}(\bar{\xi}) = \sum_{a=1}^{n} \mu_a(\bar{\xi}) \epsilon_{ij}^{(a)} \,. \tag{2.85}$$

Under these assumptions the conserved current of the pencil takes the form

$$j^{\mu} = \left[\delta^{\mu}_{t}\lambda(\bar{\xi}) + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} \mu_{\alpha}(\bar{\xi})\epsilon^{(a)\mu j}\partial_{j}\right]\delta^{(d-1)}(x_{\perp}).$$
(2.86)

Here  $\lambda(\bar{\xi})$  and  $\mu_{\alpha}(\bar{\xi})$  are the charge density the magnetic moment density distributed along the pencil.

The total charge  $\bar{q}$  and total magnetic moment  $\bar{m}_a$  of the pencil are given by the line integrals

$$\bar{q} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\bar{\xi}\,\bar{\lambda}(\bar{\xi})\,,\quad \bar{m}_a = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\bar{\xi}\,\bar{\mu}_a(\bar{\xi})\,. \tag{2.87}$$

If the pencil has a finite length the integrals should be taken over a finite interval of  $\bar{\xi}$ .

One can easily obtain the following expressions for the components of the vector potential A generated by the current (2.86)

$$A_{t} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\bar{\xi}' \lambda(\bar{\xi}') \mathcal{G}_{d}(r) , \qquad (2.88)$$
$$A_{\alpha} = -2\pi \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\bar{\xi}' \mathcal{G}_{d+2}(r) \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n} \mu_{\alpha}(\bar{\xi}') \rho_{\alpha}^{2} .$$

Here we have used the notations  $r^2 = (\bar{\xi}' - \bar{\xi})^2 + \mathbf{x}_{\perp}^2$  and  $\mathbf{x}_{\perp}^2 = \sum_{\alpha=1}^n \rho_{\alpha}^2 + \epsilon z^2$ ; where  $\epsilon = 0$  for an odd number of d spatial dimensions and  $\epsilon = 1$  for even number of spatial dimensions.

#### 2.7 Summary of chapter 2

In this chapter we discussed models which generalize the Maxwell theory. This generalization can be performed in two directions. First, we assumed that the number of spacetime dimensions is greater than four. And second, which is less trivial, we constructed the nonlocal action for the higher dimensional electromagnetic field which preserves both Lorentz and gauge invariance. Such an action contains one arbitrary function of the  $\Box$ -operator, called a form factor. It can be chosen so that no new unphysical degrees of freedom arise. We use the Green function method to construct solutions for stationary charged and magnetized objects. A characteristic property of these solutions is that they are regular for point like sources. We also described stationary solutions for a special pencil-like type of extended objects. These solutions will be used in the chapter 4 in which we discuss the field of the ultrarelativistic objects.

### Chapter 3

## Linearized Gravity and its Ghost-Free Modification

#### 3.1 Einstein gravity

In Einstein theory of gravity the gravitational filed is described by a metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$ 

$$ds^2 = g_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} \,. \tag{3.1}$$

This metric obeys the Einstein equations which can be obtained from the Einstein-Hilbert action

$$S_g[g] = \frac{1}{2\kappa} \int dx \sqrt{-g} R \,. \tag{3.2}$$

Here R is the Ricci scalar and

$$\kappa = 8\pi G \,, \tag{3.3}$$

where G is Newton's coupling constant.

Action (3.2) can be obtained by imposing the following conditions:

- The action of the gravitational field depends only on the metric and its derivatives;
- 2. It can be written in the form

$$S_g[g] = \int dx \sqrt{-g} L(g, \partial g, \ldots) \,. \tag{3.4}$$

- 3. The Lagrangian density L is a scalar under the coordinate transformations;
- 4. The field equations obtained from S do not contain higher than the second derivatives of the metric.

These conditions imply that  $L = C_0 R + C_1$ , where  $C_0$  and  $C_1$  are constants. The parameter  $C_1$  is responsible for the cosmological constant. In what follows we shall study weak gravitational field on a flat spacetime background and put the cosmological constant equal to zero. In order to properly reproduce Newton gravity in the weak field approximation the constant  $C_0$  should be taken as follows  $C_0 = \frac{1}{2\kappa}$ .

In the presence of matter the action takes the form

$$S = S_g[g] + S_m[g,...],$$
 (3.5)

where  $S_m[g,...]$  is the action for the matter in the gravitational field. The dots in this action stands for the dynamical variables responsible for the matter degrees of freedom. The stress-energy tensor of the matter is defined as follows

$$T^{\mu\nu} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta S_{\rm m}}{\delta g_{\mu\nu}} \,. \tag{3.6}$$

The variation of the action (3.5) gives the following Einstein equations

$$G_{\mu\nu} = \kappa T_{\mu\nu} ,$$
  
 $G_{\mu\nu} = R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} R g_{\mu\nu} .$ 
(3.7)

Here  $R_{\mu\nu}$  is the Ricci tensor.

#### 3.2 Linearized Einstein gravity

#### **3.2.1** Action and field equations

To obtain linearized gravity equations we write the metric in the form

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu} \,, \tag{3.8}$$

where  $\eta_{\mu\nu}$  is a flat metric and  $h_{\mu\nu}$  is its perturbation. The equations for  $h_{\mu\nu}$  can be obtained from the Einstein equations (3.7). One can proceed in two ways which give the same result.

As earlier, we denote by  $X^{\mu}$  Cartesian coordinate in which  $\eta_{\mu\nu} = \text{diag}(-1, 1, 1, 1)$ . To obtain linear equations for the perturbation  $h_{\mu\nu}$  it is sufficient to keep the quantities of the second order in h in the action (3.5) expansion. One can show (see e.g. [73]) that

$$S_g = -\frac{1}{2\kappa} \int dX \left( -\frac{1}{2} h^{\mu\nu} \Box h_{\mu\nu} + h^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \partial_\alpha h^\alpha{}_\nu - h^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \partial_\nu h + \frac{1}{2} h \Box h \right) \,. \tag{3.9}$$

The variation of this action (with matter term included) gives

$$G_{\mu\nu} \equiv \Box h_{\mu\nu} - \partial_{\sigma} (\partial_{\nu} h_{\mu}{}^{\sigma} + \partial_{\mu} h_{\nu}{}^{\sigma}) + \eta_{\mu\nu} (\partial_{\rho} \partial_{\sigma} h^{\rho\sigma} - \Box h) + \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} h = -2\kappa T_{\mu\nu} , \qquad (3.10)$$

where  $h = \eta^{\alpha\beta}h_{\alpha\beta}$  denotes the trace of  $h_{\mu\nu}$ . The same linearized gravity equations can be obtained starting with Einstein equations (3.7). In this case it is sufficient to keep only linear terms in  $h_{\mu\nu}$  in the Eintein tensor  $G_{\mu\nu}$  expansion.

#### 3.2.2 Gauge invariance

Suppose we have a perturbed metric  $g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu}$ . Or, written in contravariant form  $g^{\mu\nu} = \eta^{\mu\nu} - h^{\mu\nu}$ . Let us make the coordinate transformation

$$X^{\mu} \to \bar{X}^{\mu} = X^{\mu} + \xi^{\mu}(X),$$
 (3.11)

where  $\xi^{\mu}$  is small. Then the metric  $\boldsymbol{g}$  in the new coordinates is

$$\bar{g}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{\partial \bar{X}^{\mu}}{\partial X^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial \bar{X}^{\nu}}{\partial X^{\beta}} g^{\alpha\beta} = (\delta^{\mu}_{\alpha} + \xi^{\mu}_{,\alpha}) (\delta^{\nu}_{\beta} + \xi^{\nu}_{,\beta}) (\eta^{\alpha\beta} - h^{\alpha\beta}) = \eta^{\mu\nu} - \bar{h}^{\mu\nu} + \dots, \qquad (3.12)$$

where

$$\bar{h}_{\mu\nu} = h_{\mu\nu} - \xi_{\mu,\nu} - \xi_{\nu,\mu} \,. \tag{3.13}$$
The dots in the above relation stand for the omitted higher order terms. The linearized gravity action and equations of motion are obtained starting with the covariant Einstein theory. This guarantees that the linearized action and equations are invariant under the gauge transformation (3.13). This property can also be shown directly (see appendix C).

### 3.2.3 Equations in de Donder gauge

Linearized equations (3.10) can be simplified. For this purpose we denote

$$\hat{h}_{\mu\nu} = h_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}h\eta_{\mu\nu} \,. \tag{3.14}$$

The inverse transformation is

$$h_{\mu\nu} = \hat{h}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}\hat{h}\,\eta_{\mu\nu}\,.$$
(3.15)

We also impose the de Donder gauge conditions  $\partial_{\mu} \hat{h}^{\mu\nu} = 0$ . Then, Eq. (3.10) simplifies greatly and takes the form

$$\Box \hat{h}_{\mu\nu} = -2\kappa T_{\mu\nu} \,. \tag{3.16}$$

The conservation law  $\partial_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu} = 0$  implies that the imposed gauge conditions are consistent.

# 3.3 Stationary field of point-like sources

As earlier we denote by

$$X^{\mu} = (t, \boldsymbol{x}), \quad \boldsymbol{x} = (x^{1}, x^{2}, x^{3}),$$
(3.17)

Cartesian coordinates in the flat spacetime. Let us consider now a case when the stress-energy tensor is stationary, that is it does not depend on time t. We also assume that there are no freely propagating gravitational waves. Then the linearized

gravitational field  $h_{\mu\nu}$  is also stationary and one can replace the box-operator in (3.16) by the three-dimensional Laplace operator  $\triangle$ . Thus one has

$$\Delta \hat{h}_{\mu\nu} = -2\kappa T_{\mu\nu} \,. \tag{3.18}$$

Since the field equations are linear it is sufficient to find the field created by a point-like source. A solution for an extended object can be obtained by integrating these solutions with functions describing the corresponding stress-energy tensor distribution. The stress-energy of a point-like spinning particle can be written in the form

$$T_{\mu\nu} = \delta^t_{\mu} \delta^t_{\nu} \, m \delta(\boldsymbol{x}) + \delta^t_{(\mu} \delta^i_{\nu)} \, j_i{}^j \frac{\partial}{\partial x^j} \delta(\boldsymbol{x}) \,. \tag{3.19}$$

Here  $\delta(\mathbf{x})$  is a three-dimensional delta-function, m is the mass of the particle and  $j_{ij}$  is a constant antisymmetric matrix parameterizing its angular momentum. As for the electromagnetic field current one can use Darboux coordinates in which the antisymmetric  $3 \times 3$  matrix  $\mathbf{j}$  takes the form

$$\boldsymbol{j} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & j \\ 0 & -j & 0 \end{pmatrix} .$$
(3.20)

The structure of the stress-energy tensor (3.19) implies that only the following components of  $\hat{h}$  do not vanish

$$\phi = \hat{h}_{tt}, \quad A_i = \hat{h}_{ti} \,. \tag{3.21}$$

A solution for such a source takes the form

$$\phi(r) = \frac{\kappa m}{4\pi r} \,, \tag{3.22}$$

$$A_i(\boldsymbol{x}) = -\frac{\kappa j_{ij} x^j}{4\pi r^3}.$$
(3.23)

Here  $r = |\mathbf{x}|$  and  $\kappa = 8\pi G$ . Let us note that  $\phi = -2\varphi$ , where  $\varphi$  is Newton's potential of a point source of mass m. Using Darboux coordinates  $(t, z, y, \hat{y})$  in which the

matrix  $\mathbf{j}$  is of the form (3.20) one can write the components of  $A_i$  as follows

$$\boldsymbol{A} = (0, A_y, A_{\hat{y}}), \qquad (3.24)$$

$$A_y = \frac{\kappa j}{4\pi r^3} \hat{y}, \quad A_{\hat{y}} = -\frac{\kappa j}{4\pi r^3} y.$$
 (3.25)

One may write the metric perturbation  $\hat{h}$  in spherical coordinates  $(t, r, \phi, \theta)$  using the change of variables

$$y = r \cos \phi \sin \theta,$$
  

$$\hat{y} = r \sin \phi \sin \theta,$$
  

$$z = r \cos \theta.$$
  
(3.26)

Then, the perturbation of the metric becomes

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{h}} = \frac{\kappa m}{4\pi r} \mathrm{d}t^2 - \frac{\kappa j \sin^2 \theta}{2\pi r} \mathrm{d}\phi \,\mathrm{d}t \,. \tag{3.27}$$

The full perturbed metric is

$$ds^{2} = -\left(1 - \frac{2m}{r}\right)dt^{2} - \frac{4j\sin^{2}\theta}{r}d\phi dt + \left(1 + \frac{2m}{r}\right)$$

$$\times \left[dr^{2} + r^{2}(d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta d\phi)\right].$$
(3.28)

Here, we substituted the value of  $\kappa = 8\pi G$  and after this we put G = 1. For studying the motion of nonrelativistic particles (in Newton's limit) the factor  $\frac{2m}{r}$  in the spatial part of the metric can be omitted and one gets

$$ds^{2} = -\left(1 - \frac{2m}{r}\right)dt^{2} - \frac{4j\sin^{2}\theta}{r}d\phi dt + dr^{2} + r^{2}(d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta d\phi).$$
(3.29)

This metric has a resemblance to the vacuum solution for Einstein equations for a rotating black whole, known as the Kerr metric. In Boyer-Lindquist coordinates it has the form

$$ds^{2} = -\left(1 - \frac{2mr}{\Sigma}\right)dt^{2} - \frac{4jr\sin^{2}\theta}{\Sigma}dt\,d\phi + \frac{A\sin^{2}\theta}{\Sigma}d\phi^{2} + \frac{\Sigma}{\Delta}dr^{2} + \Sigma d\theta^{2}\,.$$
 (3.30)

Where

$$\Sigma = r^{2} + \frac{j^{2}}{m^{2}} \cos^{2} \theta, \quad \Delta = r^{2} - 2mr + \frac{j^{2}}{m^{2}},$$

$$A = (r^{2} + \frac{j^{2}}{m^{2}})^{2} - \Delta \frac{j^{2}}{m^{2}} \sin^{2} \theta.$$
(3.31)

Taking the limit  $r \to \infty$  the metric (3.30) becomes

$$\mathrm{d}s^2 \simeq -\left(1 - \frac{2m}{r}\right)\mathrm{d}t^2 - \frac{4j\sin^2\theta}{r}\mathrm{d}\phi\mathrm{d}t + \mathrm{d}r^2 + r^2(d\theta^2 + \sin^2\theta\mathrm{d}\phi)\,. \tag{3.32}$$

Therefore, we see that our perturbed metric (3.29) has exactly the same form as (3.32), this is, the asymptotic form of the Kerr metric.

# 3.4 Linearized higher-dimensional Einstein gravity

Higher-dimensional generalization of the Einstein equations are now often discussed in the literature. Mainly this is motivated by string theory which is naturally formulated when the number of spacetime dimensions D is greater than four. For this purpose one can use the following generalization of the action (3.2)

$$S_g[g] = \frac{1}{2\kappa} \int d^D x \sqrt{-g} R. \qquad (3.33)$$

Here R is the Ricci scalar and

$$\kappa = 8\pi G^{(D)} \,, \tag{3.34}$$

where  $G^{(D)}$  is the higher-dimensional Newton's coupling constant. The form of the higher-dimensional Einstein equations (3.7) and their linearized version (3.10) remains the same. As ealier it is convenient to introduce new variables  $\hat{h}_{\mu\nu}$ 

$$\hat{h}_{\mu\nu} = h_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}h\eta_{\mu\nu} \,. \tag{3.35}$$

After imposing the de Donder gauge fixing condition

$$\partial_{\mu}\hat{h}^{\mu\nu} = 0, \qquad (3.36)$$

Eq. (3.10) simplifies greatly and takes the form

$$\Box \hat{h}_{\mu\nu} = -2\kappa T_{\mu\nu} \,. \tag{3.37}$$

The conservation law  $\partial_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu} = 0$  implies that the imposed gauge conditions are consistent. The only significant difference where the number of dimensions is important is the inverse transformation for **h** which now takes the form

$$h_{\mu\nu} = \hat{h}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{d-1} \hat{h} \eta_{\mu\nu} \,. \tag{3.38}$$

Once again, we denote by d = D - 1 the number of spatial dimensions.

# 3.5 Stationary field of point-like sources in higher dimensions

Following a similar procedure as in the case of 4D linearized Einstein gravity, one can find stationary solutions for an arbitrary number of dimensions. As earlier we denote

$$X^{\mu} = (t, \boldsymbol{x}), \quad \boldsymbol{x} = (x^1, x^2, \dots, x^d).$$
 (3.39)

Again, we are interested in the case where the stress-energy tensor does not depend on time. Therefore our equation takes the same form as (3.18) only that this time the Laplace operator is acting on all d spatial dimensions. A point-like spinning particle in an arbitrary number of dimensions has the following stress-energy

$$T_{\mu\nu} = \delta^t_{\mu} \delta^t_{\nu} \, m \delta^{(d)}(\boldsymbol{x}) + \delta^t_{(\mu} \delta^i_{\nu)} \, j_i{}^j \frac{\partial}{\partial x^j} \delta^{(d)}(\boldsymbol{x}) \,. \tag{3.40}$$

Now  $\delta^{(d)}(\boldsymbol{x})$  is the *d*-dimensional delta function and all the other variables remain the same as on the Einstein case. The general structure of  $\boldsymbol{h}$  remains unchanged and therefore we have that the only non-vanishing components are

$$\phi = \hat{h}_{tt}, \quad A_i = \hat{h}_{ti} \,, \tag{3.41}$$

where i = 1, 2, ..., d. The solution for the metric perturbation can be found using the *d*-dimensional Green functions. These solutions are

$$\phi(r) = 2\kappa \frac{d-2}{d-1} m G_d(r), \qquad (3.42)$$
$$A_i(\boldsymbol{x}) = -2\pi \kappa j_{ij} x^j G_{d+2}(r).$$

Using (2.61) one finds

$$\phi(r) = \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)}{(d-1)\pi^{\frac{d}{2}}} \frac{\kappa m}{r^{d-2}}, \qquad (3.43)$$

$$A_i(\boldsymbol{x}) = -\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)}{2\pi^{\frac{d}{2}}} \frac{\kappa j_{ij} x^j}{r^d} \,. \tag{3.44}$$

We choose the sign of  $A_i$  such that in the three-dimensional case d = 3 one obtains the standard Lense–Thirring expression  $(j_{xy} = j \text{ and } \kappa = 8\pi G)$ 

$$A_i(\boldsymbol{x}) \mathrm{d}x^i \sim \frac{2Gj}{r^3} (x \mathrm{d}y - y \mathrm{d}x) = \frac{2Gj}{r} \sin^2 \theta \,\mathrm{d}\varphi \,. \tag{3.45}$$

These solutions can be generalized for an extended pencil-like object as we will see later.

## 3.6 Linearized nonlocal gravity

Nonlocal ghost-free equations for linearized gravity were discussed in many publications starting with pioneer work by Mazumdar and collaborators [16, 81]. A higher dimensional generalization of these results was obtained in [73]. Let us remind here the main steps of the derivation of the corresponding nonlocal linearized action and present the final result of this analysis.

We consider the metric perturbation  $h_{\mu\nu}$  over *D*-dimensional flat spacetime background. To obtain the most general action for the linearized nonlocal gravity one can proceed in the same way as it was done in chapter 2 for the nonlocal Maxwell theory. Namely, one can start with the most general action which is quadratic in the metric perturbation h and which contains an arbitrary number of derivatives. Using the assumption that the action and its Lagrangian are gauge invariant scalars and omitting the total derivatives one can arrive at the final version of the action which will be given later (see equation (3.49)).

However, this procedure requires quite lengthy calculations. The same answer can be obtained in much more "cheap and clever" way which was proposed by Mazumdar and collaborators [16, 81]. For this purpose it is convenient to use the "curved metric" language and to write the corresponding action in a covariant form. This guarantees that the resulting equations are covariant. Infinitely small coordinate transformation  $x^{\mu} \rightarrow x^{\mu} + \xi^{\mu}$  results in the change  $h_{\mu\nu} \rightarrow h_{\mu\nu} - \xi_{\mu;\nu} - \xi_{\nu;\mu}$ . On the flat-space background this is nothing but the gauge transformation of the perturbation h. If the field equations for h are derived from a scalar action then this guarantees the gauge invariance of these equations.

We start with the action

$$S = \frac{1}{2\kappa} \int d^D x \sqrt{g} L \,. \tag{3.46}$$

The most general form of the scalar Lagrangian L which is quadratic in curvature is

$$L = R + R_{\mu_1\nu_1\lambda_1\sigma_1} O^{\mu_1\nu_1\lambda_1\sigma_1}_{\mu_2\nu_2\lambda_2\sigma_2} R^{\mu_2\nu_2\lambda_2\sigma_2}.$$
 (3.47)

Here  $O^{\mu_1\nu_1\lambda_1\sigma_1}_{\mu_2\nu_2\lambda_2\sigma_2}$  is an operator constructed from  $\nabla_{\mu}$  and the metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$ . This Lagrangian will be used to obtain the linearized equations for the perturbation. Each of the curvature terms which enter (3.47) are already of the first order in  $\boldsymbol{h}$ . This means that the terms proportional to the third and higher order in curvature do not contribute to the field equations in the linear order.

One can simplify the action (3.46)-(3.47) by using the symmetry properties of the curvature tensor, Bianchi identities and by omitting the terms which are total derivatives. Moreover, since the goal is to get the equations on the flat background one can commute the covariant derivative. Really, the commutator of the covariant derivatives is proportional to the curvature and it vanishes on the flat background. As it was shown in [16, 81] after using these properties the action (3.46)-(3.47) greatly simplifies and it reduces to the form

$$S = \frac{1}{2\kappa_d} \int \mathrm{d}^D x \sqrt{-g} \left[ R + RF_1(\Box)R + R_{\mu\nu}F_2(\Box)R^{\mu\nu} + R_{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma}F_3(\Box)R^{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma} \right].$$

This form of the action is also valid in the case where the number of spacetime dimensions is greater than 4 [73]. This form of the quadratic in curvature action

can be further simplified using the following observation [82, 83]: the "Gauss-Bonnet structures" of the form  $(k \ge 1)$  obey the following relations

$${}^{*}R^{\alpha\beta\gamma\sigma}\Box^{k}{}^{*}R_{\alpha\beta\gamma\sigma} = R^{\alpha\beta\gamma\sigma}\Box^{k}R_{\alpha\beta\gamma\sigma} - 4R^{\alpha\beta}\Box^{k}R_{\alpha\beta} + R\Box^{k}R = O(R^{3}) + \text{div}. \quad (3.48)$$

These relations are valid in an arbitrary number of spacetime dimensions. This property allows one to reduce the term with the form factor  $F_3$  to the other ones with form factors  $F_1$  and  $F_2$  by omitting the terms which are either of the third and higher order in curvature or are total divergences. As a result, the general higher derivative action can be written in a form which contains only two arbitrary functions of the box operator [81]. The result is the following: The most general linearized action Sin a Lorentz invariant theory with an arbitrary number of derivatives and quadratic in the perturbation  $h_{\mu\nu}$  can be written in the form [16]

$$S = \frac{1}{2\kappa} \int d^{D}X \left( \frac{1}{2} h^{\mu\nu} f(\Box) \Box h_{\mu\nu} - h^{\mu\nu} f(\Box) \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\alpha} h^{\alpha}{}_{\nu} + h^{\mu\nu} \tilde{f}(\Box) \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} h - \frac{1}{2} h \tilde{f}(\Box) \Box h + \frac{1}{2} h^{\mu\nu} \frac{f(\Box) - \tilde{f}(\Box)}{\Box} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \partial_{\alpha} \partial_{\beta} h^{\alpha\beta} \right).$$
(3.49)

We write this action in Cartesian coordinates and use partial derivatives instead of the covariant ones.  $\Box$  is the d'Alembert operator of Minkowski space,  $\Box = \eta^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}$ . The functions  $f(\Box)$  and  $\tilde{f}(\Box)$  can be chosen freely to parameterize different Lorentzinvariant modifications of gravity, subject only to the constraint

$$f(0) = \tilde{f}(0) = 1, \qquad (3.50)$$

which guarantees the proper Newtonian limit; see also the related discussions in Refs. [16, 42]. In the case of  $f(\Box) = \tilde{f}(\Box) = 1$  one recovers the linearized General Relativity.

The field equations corresponding to the action (3.49) are

$$f(\Box) \left[\Box h_{\mu\nu} - \partial_{\sigma} \left(\partial_{\nu} h_{\mu}{}^{\sigma} + \partial_{\mu} h_{\nu}{}^{\sigma}\right)\right] + \tilde{f}(\Box) \left[\eta_{\mu\nu} \left(\partial_{\rho} \partial_{\sigma} h^{\rho\sigma} - \Box h\right) + \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} h\right] + \frac{f(\Box) - \tilde{f}(\Box)}{\Box} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \partial_{\rho} \partial_{\sigma} h^{\rho\sigma} = -2\kappa T_{\mu\nu} , \qquad (3.51)$$

where  $T_{\mu\nu}$  is the energy-momentum tensor of matter, and  $h = \eta^{\alpha\beta}h_{\alpha\beta}$  denotes the trace of  $h_{\mu\nu}$ .

From now on we shall restrict ourselves to the case of

$$\tilde{f}(\Box) = f(\Box) \,. \tag{3.52}$$

This condition guarantees that no extra massive scalar modes are present in the theory and the only physical degrees of freedom are massless gravitons [16]. We denote

$$\hat{h}_{\mu\nu} = h_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}h\eta_{\mu\nu} \,. \tag{3.53}$$

The inverse transformation is

$$h_{\mu\nu} = \hat{h}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{d-1} \hat{h} \eta_{\mu\nu} \,. \tag{3.54}$$

We also impose the de Donder gauge conditions  $\partial_{\mu}\hat{h}^{\mu\nu} = 0$ . Then, Eq. (3.51) simplifies greatly and takes the form

$$f(\Box)\Box\hat{h}_{\mu\nu} = -2\kappa T_{\mu\nu}. \qquad (3.55)$$

The conservation law  $\partial_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu} = 0$  implies that the imposed gauge conditions are consistent.

### 3.7 Nonlocal stationary solutions

Equations (3.55) written in the Cartesian coordinates are similar to the equations for the electromagnetic potential in the nonlocal Maxwell theory which were discussed in the previous chapter, and one can solve them by using the same method as described earlier in chapter 2.

We assume that  $T_{\mu\nu}$  does not depend on time. For a stationary metric generated by such a stress-energy tensor the  $\Box$ -operator reduces to the *d*-dimensional Laplace operator  $\Delta = \delta^{ij} \partial_i \partial_j$ . We denote

$$\mathcal{D} = f(\Delta) \Delta \,. \tag{3.56}$$

In what follows we also assume that the form factor f is of the form (2.50), that is, we consider  $GF_N$  nonlocal models.

Then, we can solve the field equations (3.55) by using the static Green function

$$\mathcal{DG}_d(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{x'}) = -\delta^{(d)}(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{x'}). \qquad (3.57)$$

These Green functions are the same as we introduced earlier in the case of nonlocal Maxwell theory.

The stress-energy tensor for stationary distribution of spinning matter can be written in the form (see, e.g. [70])

$$T_{\mu\nu} = \rho(\boldsymbol{x})\delta^t_{\mu}\delta^t_{\nu} + \delta^t_{(\mu}\delta^i_{\nu)}\frac{\partial}{\partial x^j}j_i{}^j(\boldsymbol{x}).$$
(3.58)

Here  $\rho(\boldsymbol{x})$  is the mass density and  $j_i{}^j(\boldsymbol{x})$  is the angular momentum density. A solution  $h_{\mu\nu}$  of the field equations (3.55) for this source can be written as follows:

$$\boldsymbol{h} = h_{\mu\nu} \mathrm{d}X^{\mu} \mathrm{d}X^{\nu} , \qquad (3.59)$$

$$\boldsymbol{h} = \phi \left( \mathrm{d}t^2 + \frac{1}{d-2} \delta_{ij} \mathrm{d}x^i \mathrm{d}x^j \right) + 2A_i \mathrm{d}x^i \mathrm{d}t ,$$
  
$$\boldsymbol{\phi}(\boldsymbol{x}) = 2\kappa \frac{d-2}{d-2} \int \mathrm{d}^d y \, \rho(\boldsymbol{y}) \mathcal{G}_d(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{y}) , \qquad (3.60)$$

$$\phi(\boldsymbol{x}) = 2\kappa \frac{d}{d-1} \int d^{a} y \,\rho(\boldsymbol{y}) \mathcal{G}_{d}(\boldsymbol{x}-\boldsymbol{y}), \qquad (3.60)$$

$$A_{i}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \kappa \int d^{d} y \,i_{i}{}^{j}(\boldsymbol{y}) \frac{\partial \mathcal{G}_{d}(\boldsymbol{x}-\boldsymbol{y})}{\partial \boldsymbol{x}^{j}}. \qquad (3.61)$$

$$A_i(\boldsymbol{x}) = \kappa \int \mathrm{d}^d y \, j_i^{\ j}(\boldsymbol{y}) \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{g}_d(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{y})}{\partial x^j} \,. \tag{3.61}$$

Due to the translational symmetry of Eq. (3.57), the Green function  $\mathcal{G}_d(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{x'})$  is a function of  $\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{x'}$ , while due to the spherical symmetry it depends on the radius variable  $r = |\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{x'}|$  alone. Thus one has

$$\mathcal{G}_d(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{x'}) = \mathcal{G}_d(r) \,. \tag{3.62}$$

Using the property of the Green function (2.62) the expression for A can written in the form

$$A_i(\boldsymbol{x}) = -2\pi\kappa \int \mathrm{d}^d y \, j_{ij}(\boldsymbol{y})(x^j - y^j) \mathcal{G}_{d+2}(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{y}) \,. \tag{3.63}$$

### 3.7.1 Point-like particle

The stress-energy tensor for a point-like particle is

$$T_{\mu\nu} = \delta^t_{\mu} \delta^t_{\nu} \, m \delta^{(d)}(\boldsymbol{x}) + \delta^t_{(\mu} \delta^i_{\nu)} \, j_i{}^j \frac{\partial}{\partial x^j} \delta^{(d)}(\boldsymbol{x}) \,, \qquad (3.64)$$

where m is the mass of the particle and  $j_{ij}$  is a constant antisymmetric matrix parametrizing its angular momentum. A solution for the perturbed metric (3.59)– (3.61) for such a source takes the form<sup>1</sup>

$$\phi(r) = 2\kappa \frac{d-2}{d-1} m \mathcal{G}_d(r) ,$$

$$A_i(\boldsymbol{x}) = -2\pi \kappa j_{ij} x^j \mathcal{G}_{d+2}(r) .$$
(3.65)

Since all corresponding static nonlocal Green functions in  $GF_N$  models are regular at r = 0, the same property is valid for the solutions (3.65).

At large distances one recovers the standard expressions known from linearized General Relativity [85]:

$$\phi(r) \sim \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)}{(d-1)\pi^{\frac{d}{2}}} \frac{\kappa m}{r^{d-2}}, \qquad (3.66)$$

$$A_i(\boldsymbol{x}) \sim -\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)}{2\pi^{\frac{d}{2}}} \frac{\kappa j_{ij} x^j}{r^d} \,. \tag{3.67}$$

We choose a sign of  $A_i$  such that in the three-dimensional case d = 3 one obtains the standard Lense–Thirring expression  $(j_{xy} = j \text{ and } \kappa = 8\pi G)$ 

$$A_i(\boldsymbol{x}) \mathrm{d}x^i \sim \frac{2Gj}{r^3} (x\mathrm{d}y - y\mathrm{d}x) = \frac{2Gj}{r} \sin^2 \theta \,\mathrm{d}\varphi \,. \tag{3.68}$$

For illustration purposes let us explicitly write the expressions for the metric perturbations for d = 3 dimensions in the simplest  $GF_1$  model

$$\phi(r) = \frac{\kappa m}{4\pi r} \operatorname{erf}\left(\frac{r}{2\ell}\right) ,$$

$$A_i(\boldsymbol{x}) = -\frac{\kappa j_{ij} x^j}{4\pi r^3} \left[\operatorname{erf}\left(\frac{r}{2\ell}\right) - \frac{r}{\sqrt{\pi\ell}} e^{(r/2\ell)^2}\right] .$$
(3.69)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In four-dimensional spacetime, this solution can be used to obtain a metric for a spinning ring discussed in [84].

# 3.8 Pencil-like gravitational sources

As we did in the previous chapter, we now focus on a particular type of higherdimensional objects with a finite extension in one spatial direction and a zero transverse size. We assume that this object is massive and it rotates around its own axis. We consider the field of such an object in the frame  $\bar{S}$  where it is rest. As earlier, we denote by  $\bar{t}$  the time coordinate in the rest frame and by  $\bar{\xi}$  a coordinate along the pencil direction. We also write the flat metric in the form

$$ds^{2} = -d\bar{t}^{2} + d\bar{\xi}^{2} + d\boldsymbol{x}_{\perp}^{2}. \qquad (3.70)$$

To specify the stress-energy tensor (3.58) to the case of the pencil-like distribution of the spinning matter we proceed as follows. We assume that both the matter density  $\rho$  and the density of the angular momentum  $j_{ij}$  are concentrated on the line representing the pencil. We introduce the quantities  $\bar{\lambda}(\bar{\xi})$  and  $\bar{j}_{ij}(\bar{\xi})$  as the mass and angular momentum line densities, respectively. They describe the distribution of the mass and angular momentum along the pencil. We also impose the following restrictions on the tensor structure of  $j_{ij}$ :

- Matrix functions  $j_{ij}(\bar{\xi})$  are orthogonal to  $\bar{\xi}$  direction,  $j_{i\bar{\xi}}(\bar{\xi}) = 0$ ;
- Eigen two-planes  $\Pi_a$  of  $j_{ij}(\bar{\xi})$  are parallel propagated along the  $\bar{\xi}$  axis.

The second property implies that by using the rigid spatial rotations the matrix

functions  $j_{ij}(\bar{\xi})$  can be presented in the form

$$\vec{\boldsymbol{j}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \bar{j}_1 & \dots & 0 \\ -\bar{j}_1 & 0 & & & \\ & 0 & \bar{j}_2 & & \\ & & -\bar{j}_2 & 0 & & \\ \vdots & & \ddots & & \\ & & & 0 & \bar{j}_n \\ & & & & -\bar{j}_n & 0 \\ 0 & & & & 0 \end{pmatrix} .$$
 (3.71)

Here  $\overline{j}_a$  are functions of  $\overline{\xi}$  alone.

Let us specify the (d-1) coordinates  $x^j_{\perp}$  orthogonal to the  $\bar{\xi}$ -direction further:

$$x_{\perp}^{j} = (y^{a}, \hat{y}^{a}, \epsilon z), \quad a = 1, \dots, n,$$
  
$$n = \left\lfloor \frac{d-1}{2} \right\rfloor, \quad d = 2n + 1 + \epsilon.$$
 (3.72)

One can say that the (d-1)-dimensional "transverse space" orthogonal to the  $\xi$ -axis is spanned by n mutually orthogonal two-planes  $\Pi_a$ , and  $(y^a, \hat{y}^a)$  are right-handed coordinates in these planes. We shall refer to these planes as *Darboux planes*. If the number of spacetime dimensions d + 1 is odd one has  $\epsilon = 1$  and besides these two-planes there exists an additional one-dimensional z-axis which is orthogonal to each of the planes as well as to  $\xi$ -axis. In even spacetime dimensions there is no such additional z coordinate: for example, in four spacetime dimensions there exists only one two-plane orthogonal to the  $\xi$ -direction. We denote by  $\mathbf{e}^{(a)} = \partial_{y^a}$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{e}}^{(a)} = \partial_{\hat{y}^a}$ unit vectors along the  $y^a$ -axis and  $\hat{y}^a$ -axis, respectively. The 1-forms dual to these vectors are  $\boldsymbol{\omega}^{(a)} = dy^a$  and  $\hat{\boldsymbol{\omega}}^{(a)} = d\hat{y}^a$  such that the volume 2-form for each Darboux plane  $\Pi_a$  is given by  $\boldsymbol{\epsilon}^{(a)} = \boldsymbol{\omega}^{(a)} \wedge \hat{\boldsymbol{\omega}}^{(a)}$ .

In these coordinates the stress-energy tensor of a thin spinning pencil is

$$T_{\mu\nu} = \left[\delta^{\bar{t}}_{\mu}\delta^{\bar{t}}_{\nu}\bar{\lambda}(\bar{\xi}) + \sum_{a=1}^{n} \left(\bar{j}_{a}(\bar{\xi})\delta^{\bar{t}}_{(\mu}\delta^{i}{}_{\nu)}\epsilon^{(a)j}_{i}\partial_{j}\right)\right]\delta^{(d-1)}(\boldsymbol{x}_{\perp}).$$
(3.73)

We assume that this object has a finite length in  $\overline{\xi}$ , such that both  $\overline{\lambda}(\overline{\xi})$  and  $j_a(\overline{\xi})$ vanish when  $\overline{\xi}$  is outside some interval  $(0, \overline{L})$ . We call  $\overline{L}$  the length of the pencil. The mass and the angular momentum of such a pencil are

$$\bar{m} = \int \mathrm{d}\bar{\xi}\,\bar{\lambda}(\bar{\xi})\,,\tag{3.74}$$

$$\bar{J}_{ij} = \int \mathrm{d}\bar{\xi}\,\bar{j}_{ij}(\bar{\xi})\,,\tag{3.75}$$

$$\bar{j}_{ij}(\bar{\xi}) = \sum_{a=1}^{n} \epsilon_{ij}^{(a)} \bar{j}_a(\bar{\xi}) \,. \tag{3.76}$$

The gravitational field  $h_{\mu\nu}$  for the thin spinning pencil is

$$\boldsymbol{h} = \bar{\phi} \left[ \mathrm{d}t^2 + \frac{1}{d-2} (\mathrm{d}\bar{\xi}^2 + \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}_{\perp}^2) \right] + 2\bar{A}_i \mathrm{d}x_{\perp}^i \mathrm{d}t \,, \tag{3.77}$$

where

$$\bar{\phi}(\bar{\xi}, x_{\perp}^{i}) = 2\kappa \frac{d-2}{d-1} \int \mathrm{d}\bar{\xi}' \bar{\lambda}(\bar{\xi}') \mathcal{G}_{d}(\bar{r}) ,$$

$$\bar{A}_{i}(\bar{\xi}, x_{\perp}^{i}) = -2\pi\kappa \int \mathrm{d}\bar{\xi}' \bar{j}_{ij}(\bar{\xi}') x_{\perp}^{j} \mathcal{G}_{d+2}(\bar{r}) .$$
(3.78)

The expression for  $\bar{r}^2$  is given in (2.80).

## **3.9** Summary of chapter 3

In this chapter we discussed linearized gravity equations in four and higher dimensions. We started with a higher dimensional generalization of General Relativity, and after this we described the nonlocal action of the so called linearized ghost-free gravity theories. In both cases we constructed solutions for point-like and pencil-like spinning objects. For this purpose we used the Green function method. As a result, solutions of the nonlocal linearized gravity equations for stationary sources have a lot of similarities with those constructed in the previous chapter for nonlocal Maxwell equations. In particular, the field of a point-like spinning particle in the ghost-free gravity is regular at the origin. In the next chapter we use the obtained stationary solutions of nonlocal Maxwell and gravity equations to obtain solutions for the field of ultrarelativistic sources.

# Chapter 4 Field of Ultrarelativistic Objects

# 4.1 Boost transformation and Penrose limit

In this chapter we discuss electromagnetic and gravitational field of ultrarelativistic pencils with a finite length. We demonstrate that the corresponding solutions can be obtained by boosting the obtained earlier solutions for stationary sources. For this purpose we first rewrite these solutions in an inertial frame S which moves with respect to a static frame  $\bar{S}$  with velocity  $\beta = v/c$ . After this we take the limit  $\beta \rightarrow 1$ . In order to obtain a finite result in such a limit one should properly rescale the parameters which enter  $\bar{S}$  solutions. This rescaling depends on the spin of the field and it is different for the electromagnetic and gravitational cases. In the gravitational theory instead of the mass of the object in the frame  $\bar{S}$  one should keep the energy in the S frame fixed. Penrose demonstrated that such a rescaling is valid not only in the linearized gravity. In his famous paper [63] Penrose wrote:

We envisage a succession of observers travelling in the spacetime M whose world lines approach the null geodesic  $\gamma$  more and more closely; so we picture these observers as travelling with greater and greater speeds, approaching that of light. As their speeds increase they must correspondingly recalibrate their clocks to run faster and faster (assuming that all spacetime measurements are referred to clock measurements in the standard way), so that in the limit the clocks measure the affine parameter along  $\gamma$ . (Without clock recalibration a degenerate spacetime metric would result.) In the limit, the observers measure the spacetime to have the plane-wave structure.

The corresponding procedure for getting solutions for the field of ultrarelativistic objects is called the Penrose limit. We apply this procedure to the solutions of electromagnetic and linearized gravity equations both for local and nonlocal versions of these theories. We shall also consider the cases of four-dimensional and higher dimensional spacetimes.

Let us consider two frames. The first one is frame  $\overline{S}$  where the matter creating the gravitational field is at rest. The second frame S moves with a constant velocity  $\beta$  with respect to  $\overline{S}$ . We adapt now the choice of the coordinates which is convenient for this situation. Let  $\xi$  be a coordinate along the vector of velocity of S and denote by  $\boldsymbol{x}_{\perp}$  the d-1 coordinates orthogonal to the  $\xi$ -direction. To distinguish the rest frame coordinates from the coordinates in the boosted frame we use a bar for the rest frame coordinates and write

$$X^{\mu} = (t, \xi, x^{i}_{\perp}), \quad \bar{X}^{\mu} = (\bar{t}, \bar{\xi}, x^{i}_{\perp}).$$
 (4.1)

The index i = 1, 2, ..., d-1 enumerates the coordinates transverse to the direction of motion. We omit the bar for the coordinates  $x_{\perp}^{i}$  since the Lorentz transformation for the motion in the  $\xi$ -direction does not affect their values. The background Minkowski metric is

$$ds_0^2 = -d\bar{t}^2 + d\bar{\xi}^2 + dx_{\perp}^2 = -dt^2 + d\xi^2 + dx_{\perp}^2.$$
(4.2)

Here,  $(\bar{t}, \bar{\xi})$  are coordinates in the rest frame  $\bar{S}$  and  $(t, \xi)$  are the corresponding coordinates in the moving frame S. For the remainder of the chapter, we denote all quantities defined with respect to the rest frame  $\bar{S}$  with a bar. For example, the radial distance from the origin to a point  $(\bar{\xi}, x_{\perp}^i)$  is  $\bar{r}^2 = \bar{\xi}^2 + \boldsymbol{x}_{\perp}^2$ . We specify (d-1)coordinates  $x_{\perp}^j$  orthogonal to the  $\bar{\xi}$ -direction in the same way as it was done in section 2.6. In what follows we apply the Penrose limit to the previously described solutions for electromagnetic and gravitational "pencils". We shall apply to these solutions the boost transformation in the  $\overline{\xi}$ -direction

$$\overline{t} = \gamma \left( t - \beta \xi \right) , \quad \overline{\xi} = \gamma \left( \xi - \beta t \right) .$$
 (4.3)

Here  $\beta = v/c$  is the boost parameter and v is the velocity of the frame S with respect to the rest frame  $\bar{S}$ . For fixed  $\xi$ , that is, for a fixed point in frame S one has  $\bar{\xi} = -\gamma\beta t + \text{const.}$  This means that the frame S moves in the negative ("left") direction of  $\bar{\xi}$  with respect to the rest frame  $\bar{S}$ . In other words, a pencil which is at rest with respect to  $\bar{S}$  moves with a positive velocity in S frame.

We introduce the retarded and advanced null coordinates in the S frame defined as follows:

$$u = \frac{t-\xi}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad v = \frac{t+\xi}{\sqrt{2}}.$$
 (4.4)

Then (4.3) implies

$$\bar{t} = \frac{\gamma}{\sqrt{2}} [(1+\beta)u + (1-\beta)v], \qquad (4.5)$$

$$\bar{\xi} = \frac{\gamma}{\sqrt{2}} [-(1+\beta)u + (1-\beta)v].$$
(4.6)

In the ultrarelativistic limit,  $\beta \rightarrow 1$ , one has

$$\bar{t} \to \sqrt{2\gamma}u, \quad \bar{\xi} \to -\sqrt{2\gamma}u.$$
(4.7)

This implies that if one considers the matter distribution of an ultrarelativistec pencil in the frame  $\bar{S}$  such that it is located in the strip between  $\bar{\xi} = 0$  and  $\bar{\xi} = \bar{L}$ , then by keeping the length  $L = \bar{L}/\gamma$  fixed in the moving frame the pencil will be located between the region  $u = -L/\sqrt{2}$  and u = 0 of spacetime after taking the Penrose limit; see Fig. 4.1.



Figure 4.1: The pencil of length L moves within the two-dimensional  $(t, \xi)$ -section of Minkowski space in the frame S.

# 4.2 Green functions in the Penrose limit

As we have demonstrated in the previous chapters solutions for the stationary sources in the rest frame  $\bar{S}$  can be found explicitly by using the Green functions of the equation

$$f(\Delta) \Delta \mathcal{G}_d(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{x}') = -\delta^{(d)}(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{x}').$$
(4.8)

Here f is the form factor of the nonlocal theory and d = D-1 is the number of spatial dimensions. For f = 1  $\mathcal{G}_d(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{x}') = G_d(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{x}')$  where  $G_d$  is the Green function of d dimensional Laplace equation.

In order to obtain the Penrose limit of the Green function it is convenient to use the following trick. Let us write the following representation of the static Green function  $\mathcal{G}_d(r)$ 

$$\mathcal{G}_d(r) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}\eta}{f(-\eta\ell^2)\eta} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\tau \, K_d(r|\tau) \, e^{i\eta\tau} \,. \tag{4.9}$$

Here

$$K_d(r|\tau) = \frac{1}{(4\pi i\tau)^{\frac{d}{2}}} e^{i\frac{r^2}{4\tau}},$$
(4.10)

is the *d*-dimensional heat kernel in imaginary time  $\tau = -it$  which satisfies the following equations

$$\Delta K_d(r|\tau) = -i\partial_\tau K_d(r|\tau), \qquad (4.11)$$

$$\lim_{\tau \to 0} K_d(r|\tau) = \delta^{(d)}(\boldsymbol{r}) \,. \tag{4.12}$$

The derivation of the representation (4.9) for the static Green function is given in Appendix E.

The following property makes this representation very useful for the study of the Penrose limit of solutions: Relation (4.9) expresses the Green function  $\mathcal{G}_d(\bar{r})$  as a double Fourier transform, wherein the radius  $\bar{r}$  enters only quadratically via the exponential function  $\sim \exp[i\bar{r}^2/(4\tau)]$ . This observation allows us to perform the Penrose limit procedure in a very general and convenient form. In the representation (4.9) the only quantity which is "sensitive" to the boost is the heat kernel  $K_d$ . It factorizes such that the boost-sensitive factor is the exponent of the form  $\sim \exp[i(\bar{\xi} - \bar{\xi}')^2/4\tau]$ , which for large  $\gamma$  factors takes the form  $\sim \exp[i\gamma(u - u')^2/2\tau]$ . To take the Penrose limit we use the following relation (see also [86]):

$$\delta(u) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi i\epsilon}} e^{i\frac{u^2}{2\epsilon}}.$$
(4.13)

Denote  $\epsilon=\tau/\gamma^2$  and apply this relation to (4.9) to obtain

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \gamma \, \mathcal{G}_d(\bar{r}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \mathcal{G}_{d-1}(r_\perp) \delta(u - u') \,, \tag{4.14}$$

where  $r_{\perp}^2 = \delta_{ij} x_{\perp}^i x_{\perp}^j$ .

This means that in the Penrose limit the Green function is factorized and becomes a product of the delta function and a similar Green function in a space with one spatial dimension less. Note that this property is universal in the following sense: It is valid in any number of dimensions and for an arbitrary choice of the form factor.

# 4.3 Electromagnetic field of ultrarelativistic charged and magnetized objects

The main tool for the study of the fields of ultrarelativistic objects both in the electromagnetic and gravitational theories is using the transformation law of the Green functions in the Penrose limit (4.14) described in the previous section. However, these two cases are technically slightly different. This difference is connected with the spin of the fields. For the electromagnetic field the spin is one and it is described by a vector potential  $\boldsymbol{A}$ . For gravity the spin is two and the linearized metric is a rank two tensor. As a result the behavior of the charge and magnetic moment under the boost transformation differs from the behavior of the energy and angular momentum of the gravity sources.

### 4.3.1 Electromagnetic field in the Penrose limit

We consider first the electromagnetic field of ultrarelativistic objects. For simplicity we limit our consideration to charged and magnetized pencils whose transverse charge and magnetic moment densities are  $\delta$ -shaped, but we allow a density profile in the pre-boosted  $\bar{\xi}$ -direction to be arbitrary functions of  $\bar{\xi}$ . Let us denote these densities by  $\bar{\lambda}(\bar{\xi})$  and  $\bar{\mu}_a(\bar{\xi})$  for the charged and magnetized pencils, respectively. Results for objects with a transverse extension can be obtained by superposing these solutions.

We use the obtained earlier (in chaper 2) expressions for the potential  $A_{\mu}$  for a pencil like distribution of the electric charge and magnetic moment

$$\bar{A}_{\bar{t}} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\bar{\xi}' \,\bar{\lambda}(\bar{\xi}') \mathcal{G}_d(\bar{r}) \,, \tag{4.15}$$

$$\bar{A}_{a} = -2\pi \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\bar{\xi}' \,\mathcal{G}_{d+2}(\bar{r}) \sum_{a=1}^{n} \bar{\mu}_{a}(\bar{\xi}') \rho_{a}^{2} \,, \tag{4.16}$$

$$\bar{r}^2 = (\bar{\xi}' - \bar{\xi})^2 + \boldsymbol{x}_{\perp}^2, \quad \boldsymbol{x}_{\perp}^2 = \sum_{a=1}^n \rho_a^2 + \epsilon z^2.$$
 (4.17)

Both  $\bar{\lambda}(\bar{\xi})$  and  $\bar{\mu}_a(\bar{\xi})$  are one-dimensional line densities.

We boost these solutions by applying the Lorentz transformation (4.3) to it. After this we need to take the limit  $\gamma \to \infty$ . In order to obtain finite (and non-vanishing) expressions for the field in the Penrose limit one should keep the total charge qfixed,  $q = \bar{q}$ , while the magnetic moment should be rescaled as follows  $m = \gamma \bar{m}$ . In accordance with this scaling we define

$$\lambda(u) = \lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \sqrt{2\gamma} \bar{\lambda}(-\sqrt{2\gamma}u) , \qquad (4.18)$$

$$\mu_a(u) = \lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \sqrt{2} \bar{\mu}_a(-\sqrt{2}\gamma u) \,. \tag{4.19}$$

For this reason, again making use of the relation (4.14), one finds the following expressions for the ultrarelativistic charged and magnetized pencils:

$$A_{\mu} \mathrm{d}X^{\mu} = \lambda(u) \mathcal{G}_{d-1}^{N}(r_{\perp}) \mathrm{d}u - \pi \mathcal{G}_{d+1}^{N}(r_{\perp}) \sum_{a=1}^{n} \mu_{a}(u) \rho_{a}^{2} \mathrm{d}\varphi_{a} \,.$$
(4.20)

The spacetime metric in (u, v) coordinates is

$$ds^{2} = -2dudv + \sum_{a=1}^{n} (d\rho_{a}^{2} + \rho_{a}^{2}d\varphi_{a}^{2}) + \epsilon dz^{2}.$$
(4.21)

The potential (4.20) is regular as  $r_{\perp} \rightarrow 0$ , which is in stark contrast to the results one obtains in standard local Maxwell theory.

### 4.3.2 Properties of solutions

Let us now make some remarks concerning the properties of the obtained solutions within nonlocal Maxwell theory. To that end, the obtained solution (4.20) can be written in the form

$$\boldsymbol{A} = \sum_{a=0}^{n} \lambda_a(u) a_a(r_\perp) \boldsymbol{\zeta}_a \,, \tag{4.22}$$

where  $\lambda_0(u) = \lambda(u)$  and  $\lambda_{a\geq 1}(u) = \mu_a(u)$ . We denoted by  $\boldsymbol{\zeta}$  the following Killing vectors:

$$\boldsymbol{\zeta}_0 = \partial_v, \quad \boldsymbol{\zeta}_a = \partial_{\varphi_a} \,. \tag{4.23}$$

It is easy to check that

$$\mathcal{L}_{\boldsymbol{\zeta}_a} \boldsymbol{A} = 0\,, \tag{4.24}$$

where  $\mathcal{L}_{\zeta}$  is the Lie derivative in  $\zeta$  direction. These relations show that the boosted solutions have the expected symmetries, that is, no dependence on advanced time vas well as rotational isometries in the  $\varphi_a$ -directions of  $\Pi_a$  two-planes.

Another observation is the following. In the absence of the magnetic moments,  $\mu_a = 0$ , both in the local and nonlocal case, the electromagnetic field  $\mathbf{F}$  is null<sup>1</sup>,

$$F_{\mu\alpha}F^{\alpha}{}_{\nu} = Su_{,\mu}u_{,\nu}, \quad F^2 = \frac{1}{2}F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu} = 0.$$
 (4.25)

In general, the presence of the magnetic field violates this property. However, the case of electrodynamics in four-dimensional spacetime is an exception. To demonstrate this, let us write the potential 1-form A as

$$\boldsymbol{A} = b(u)c(\rho)\boldsymbol{\zeta}_0 + B(u)C(\rho)\boldsymbol{\zeta}_1, \qquad (4.26)$$

where  $\zeta_0$  and  $\zeta_1$  are the 1-forms that are dual to their respective Killing vector. Then, calculations show that

$$F^{2} = B^{2} \left( \rho \frac{\mathrm{d}C}{\mathrm{d}\rho} + 2C \right)^{2} \,. \tag{4.27}$$

Thus  $F^2 = 0$  only when  $C = C_0/\rho^2$ . This is precisely the case for the field of the magnetized and charged ultrarelativistic pencil in four dimensions in the framework of the standard local Maxwell theory. For the theory in higher dimensions this property is violated. Let us emphasize that in the nonlocal theory  $F^2 \neq 0$  for ultrarelativisic magnetized pencils not only in the higher dimensions, but in four spacetime dimensions as well.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Let us note that for a static q-pencil of fixed length  $\overline{L}$  the invariant  $F^2$  does not vanish. However, when one takes the Penrose limit, the length  $\overline{L}$  is not fixed but is multiplied by  $\gamma$ . As a result,  $F^2$  decreases and becomes zero in the limit  $\gamma \to \infty$ .

# 4.4 Gravitational field of ultrarelativistic massive and spinning objects

We already mentioned that there exist a similarity between electromagnetic and linearized gravity equations. However, there is also a quite important difference. In the electromagnetism a charge can have both, positive and negative signs. For this reason one can consider neutral magnetized objects. In gravity the situation is quite different. The energy of physical objects is positive. One cannot put the energy of an object equal to zero and keep only the spin-induced component of the gravitational field. This means that in application of the results discussed in this section to a beam of spinning massless particles one should analyze the relation between the energy density and spin distribution in the beam. This can be done for example in the framework of the geometric optics approximation. This subject is beyond the scope of this thesis. In what follows we focus on the solutions for the gravitational field of ultrarelativistic sources in linearized gravity and its nonlocal ghost-free generalization. In this approach we keep the energy and angular momentum density parameters arbitrary.

### 4.4.1 Scaling properties

Let us first make a simple remark concerning the scaling properties of the pencil characteristics under a boost transformation (4.3). Let us assume that both mass and angular momentum are uniformly distributed along the pencil and their densities in the rest  $\bar{S}$  frame,  $\bar{\lambda} = \bar{m}/\bar{L}$  and  $\bar{j} = \bar{J}/\bar{L}$  are constant. Because of the Lorentz contraction, the length of the same pencil, as measured in the moving frame S is  $L = \bar{L}/\gamma$ , while its energy is  $E = m = \gamma \bar{m}$ . As a result, the linear energy density of the pencil in the S frame is  $\lambda = \gamma^2 \bar{\lambda}$ . In the Penrose limit the energy E is taken to be fixed. Thus the energy density  $\lambda$  grows to infinity as  $\gamma \to \infty$ . To keep it finite, one needs to rescale  $\bar{L} \to \gamma \bar{L}$  in the boost process, such that the length L remains unchanged<sup>2</sup>.

Because we keep the ratio  $\bar{L}/\gamma$  constant during the Penrose limit, the linear density scales as follows:

$$\lambda(u) = \lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \sqrt{2\gamma^2} \,\overline{\lambda}(-\sqrt{2\gamma}u) \,. \tag{4.28}$$

This guarantees that in the Penrose limit the product  $\overline{m}\gamma$  and the ratio  $\overline{L}/\gamma$  remain constant,

$$E = \gamma \,\overline{m} = \gamma \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\overline{\xi} \,\overline{\lambda}(\overline{\xi}) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}u \,\lambda(u) = \mathrm{const} \,. \tag{4.29}$$

The angular momentum line density  $\overline{j}_{ij}(\overline{\xi})$  "lives" in transverse space and its tensorial structure is unaffected by the boost. Using this property we define the boosted linear density of the angular momentum in the S frame as follows:

$$j_{ij}(u) = \lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \sqrt{2\gamma} \,\overline{j}_{ij}(-\sqrt{2\gamma}u) \,, \tag{4.30}$$

$$j_a(u) = \lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \sqrt{2\gamma} \, \bar{j}_a(-\sqrt{2\gamma}u) \,. \tag{4.31}$$

The total angular momentum J of the boosted pencil remains unchanged, finite and has the form

$$J_{ij} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\bar{\xi}\,\bar{j}_{ij}(\bar{\xi}) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}u j_{ij}(u)\,. \tag{4.32}$$

### 4.4.2 Metric

After the Penrose limit, as defined above, the resulting metric takes the form

$$\boldsymbol{g} = (\eta_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu}) \,\mathrm{d}X^{\mu}\mathrm{d}X^{\nu}$$
  
=  $-2\mathrm{d}u\mathrm{d}v + \phi\mathrm{d}u^2 + 2A_i\mathrm{d}x^i_{\perp}\mathrm{d}u + \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}^2_{\perp},$  (4.33)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Let us emphasize that in this thesis we do not discuss restrictions on the properties of the matter which creates the gravitational field. If for example one requires that the matter obeys the null energy condition then one can expect that  $|\bar{J}| \leq R\bar{m}$ , where R is the transverse size of the pencil. So that to keep  $|\bar{J}|$  fixed while  $\bar{m} \to 0$  without violation of the null energy condition one needs to consider "thick pencils". Let us note that beyond the linear approximation in higher dimensions the situation is quite different. Namely, Myers and Perry in [85] demonstrated that "for N > 5 black holes with a fixed mass may have arbitrarily large angular momentum". (N is the umber of spatial dimensions, which we denoted by d).

where we defined

$$\phi = \lim_{\gamma \to \infty} 2\gamma^2 \frac{d-1}{d-2} \bar{\phi} \,, \quad A_i = \lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \sqrt{2\gamma} \bar{A}_i \,. \tag{4.34}$$

Here,  $\bar{\phi}$  and  $\bar{A}_i$  are given by (3.78). The integrands in their representations contain the Green function  $\mathcal{G}_d(\bar{r})$ . Performing the limit  $\gamma \to \infty$  in the relations (4.34) for the potential  $\phi$  and the gravitomagnetic potential  $A_i$  using the factorization property of the Green functions in the Penrose limit one finally gets

$$\phi = 2\sqrt{2\kappa\lambda(u)}\mathcal{G}_{d-1}(r_{\perp}), \qquad (4.35)$$

$$A_{i} = -2\pi \kappa j_{ij}(u) x_{\perp}^{j} \mathcal{G}_{d+1}(r_{\perp}) \,. \tag{4.36}$$

Introducing polar coordinates  $\{\rho_a, \varphi_a\}$  in each Darboux plane  $\Pi_a$  such that

$$y^a = \rho_a \cos \varphi_a , \quad \hat{y}^a = \rho_a \sin \varphi_a , \qquad (4.37)$$

one may use the relation

$$j_{ij} x_{\perp}^i \mathrm{d} x_{\perp}^j = \sum_{a=1}^n j_a \rho_a^2 \mathrm{d} \varphi_a \,, \tag{4.38}$$

to rewrite the gravitomagnetic potential 1-form as

$$A_i(\boldsymbol{x}_\perp) \mathrm{d} x^i_\perp = 2\pi \kappa \mathcal{G}_{d+1}(r_\perp) \sum_{a=1}^n j_a(u) \rho_a^2 \mathrm{d} \varphi_a \,, \tag{4.39}$$

which makes the rotational symmetry in each Darboux plane manifest.

## 4.5 Gravitational field of ghost-free gyratons

Ultrarelativistic spinning objects creating the gravitational field described in the previous section are often called gyratons (see e.g. [70]). In this section we present and discuss gyraton-like solutions in General Relativity and in infinite-derivative nonlocal gravity.

In General Relativity, the form factor  $f(\Box)$  is simply

$$f(\Box) = 1, \qquad (4.40)$$

whereas in infinite-derivative  $GF_N$  gravity model this form factor as the form

$$f(\Box) = \exp\left[(-\Box \ell^2)^N\right] \,. \tag{4.41}$$

The static Green function (2.60) can be computed for a wide range of theories, but in the context of the present thesis we shall consider General Relativity as well as two infinite-derivative theories corresponding to the choices N = 1 and N = 2, which we shall hence refer to as  $GF_1$  and  $GF_2$ . It is also possible to extend these studies to arbitrary number of spatial dimensions d.

### 4.5.1 Gyratons in d=3

#### Gyraton metrics in General Relativity

As a warm-up, let us consider the well-known gyraton solutions of (3+1)-dimensional General Relativity [44, 46, 51, 52]. The relevant two-dimensional and four-dimensional static Green functions are

$$G_2(r) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log(r), \quad G_4(r) = \frac{1}{4\pi^2 r^2}.$$
 (4.42)

Since in d = 3 the transverse space is two-dimensional we have n = 1 and  $\epsilon = 0$ . Therefore we may write  $|\mathbf{x}_{\perp}| = \rho$ , call the polar angle  $\varphi$ , and denote by j(u) the linear density of the angular momentum in the *S* frame. Then, the gravitational potentials  $\phi$  and  $\mathbf{A} = A_i dx^i$  are

$$\phi(u,\rho) = -\frac{\sqrt{2\kappa\lambda(u)}}{2\pi}\log(\rho), \qquad (4.43)$$

$$\boldsymbol{A}(u) = \frac{\kappa j(u)}{2\pi} \mathrm{d}\varphi \,. \tag{4.44}$$

This gravitomagnetic field is locally exact such that

$$\boldsymbol{F} = \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{A} = 0. \tag{4.45}$$

Observe, however, that the gravitomagnetic charge does not vanish:

$$Q_0 = \int_{\mathcal{A}} \boldsymbol{F} = \oint_{\partial A} \boldsymbol{A} = \kappa j(u) \,. \tag{4.46}$$

Here,  $\mathcal{A}$  denotes a surface in the Darboux plane. For later convenience we may assume  $\mathcal{A}$  to be a circle of radius  $\rho$ . However, in a given null plane u = const this charge does not depend on the choice of the contour  $\partial \mathcal{A}$ . As we shall see soon, this property is no longer valid in nonlocal gravity, and effectively the gravitomagnetic current is spread out of the  $\rho = 0$  line in the direction transverse to the motion.

### Gyraton metrics in ghost-free gravity

We consider now a similar gyraton solutions in the nonlocal theories  $GF_1$  and  $GF_2$ . The two dimensional static Green function for  $GF_1$  theory can be written as

$$\mathcal{G}_2(r) = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \operatorname{Ein}\left(\frac{r^2}{4\ell^2}\right) \,, \tag{4.47}$$

where  $\operatorname{Ein}(x)$  denotes the complementary exponential integral and  $E_1(x)$  is the exponential integral [77],

$$\operatorname{Ein}(x) = \int_{0}^{x} \mathrm{d}z \frac{1 - e^{-z}}{z} = E_{1}(x) + \ln x + \gamma, \qquad (4.48)$$

$$E_1(x) = e^{-x} \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}z \frac{e^{-z}}{z+x} = -\mathrm{Ei}(-x), \qquad (4.49)$$

and  $\gamma = 0.577...$  is the Euler–Mascheroni constant. Then, the gravitational potentials  $\phi$  and A take the form

$$\phi(u,\rho) = -\frac{\sqrt{2\kappa\lambda(u)}}{2\pi} \operatorname{Ein}\left(\frac{\rho^2}{4\ell^2}\right), \qquad (4.50)$$

$$\boldsymbol{A}(u, \boldsymbol{x}_{\perp}) = \frac{\kappa j(u)}{2\pi} \left[ 1 - \exp\left(-\frac{r_{\perp}^2}{4\ell^2}\right) \right] \mathrm{d}\varphi \,. \tag{4.51}$$

This gravitomagnetic field is no longer exact and hence the gravitomagnetic charge depends on the radius,

$$Q_1(\rho) = \kappa j(u) \left[ 1 - \exp\left(-\frac{\rho^2}{4\ell^2}\right) \right] \,. \tag{4.52}$$

At large distances,  $\rho \gg \ell$ , we recover the gyraton solution obtained in General Relativity. In GF<sub>2</sub> theory one has

$$\mathcal{G}_{2}(r) = \frac{y}{2\pi} \left[ \sqrt{\pi} \, _{1}F_{3}\left(\frac{1}{2}; \ 1, \frac{3}{2}, \frac{3}{2}; \ y^{2}\right) - y \, _{2}F_{4}\left(1, 1; \ \frac{3}{2}, \frac{3}{2}, 2, 2; \ y^{2}\right) \right],$$

$$(4.53)$$

where we defined  $y = \rho^2/(16\ell^2)$ . The gravitomagnetic charge now takes the form

$$Q_{2}(\rho) = -\kappa j(u) \left[ 1 - {}_{0}F_{2}\left(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}; y^{2}\right) - 2\sqrt{\pi}y_{0}F_{2}\left(1, \frac{3}{2}; y^{2}\right) \right].$$

$$(4.54)$$

See Fig. 4.2 for a plot of these charges. Interestingly, the  $GF_1$  charge is monotonic, whereas the  $GF_2$  charge exhibits an oscillatory behavior.



Figure 4.2: The gravitomagnetic charges on a plane u = const. of the four-dimensional gyraton in linearized General Relativity as well as linearized GF<sub>1</sub> and GF<sub>2</sub> theory plotted as a function of  $\rho/\ell$ . The charges are normalized to the value  $Q_0$  encountered in General Relativity.

### Curvature invariants

One may wonder about the geometric properties of the four-dimensional gyraton spacetime

$$g = -2dudv + \phi(u, x, y)du^{2} + dx^{2} + dy^{2} + 2 [A_{x}(u, x, y)dx + A_{y}(u, x, y)dy] du.$$
(4.55)

This spacetime is a pp-wave because it features a covariantly constant null Killing vector  $\mathbf{k} = \partial_v$  [57],

$$\nabla_{\nu}k^{\mu} = 0. \qquad (4.56)$$

This property remains valid for any choice of the functions  $\phi$ ,  $A_x$  and  $A_y$ , provided their functional dependence remains the same. Since pp-wave spacetimes have vanishing scalar polynomial curvature invariants one finds

$$R = R_{\mu\nu}R^{\mu\nu} = R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}R^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} = 0. \qquad (4.57)$$

For this reason they remain unchanged for solutions found in the context of linearized infinite-derivative gravity as compared to linearized General Relativity.

### 4.5.2 Gyratons in $d \ge 4$ dimensions

#### d = 4 case

In five spacetime dimensions one has d = 4, which implies that n = 1 and  $\epsilon = 1$ . In this case there is only one Darboux plane orthogonal to  $\xi$  as well as one additional z-axis. Let us write the transverse distance as  $r_{\perp}^2 = \rho^2 + z^2$ , where  $\rho$  is the radial variable in the Darboux plane. Then, from Eqs. (4.35) as well as (4.39), one obtains

$$\phi = 2\sqrt{2}\kappa\lambda(u)\mathcal{G}_3(r_\perp)\,,\tag{4.58}$$

$$A_i \mathrm{d} x^i_{\perp} = -\frac{\kappa}{r_{\perp}} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d} r_{\perp}} \mathcal{G}_3(r_{\perp}) j(u) \rho^2 \mathrm{d} \varphi \,, \tag{4.59}$$

where  $\varphi$  is the polar angle in the Darboux plane, j(u) is the angular momentum eigenfunction, and  $\lambda(u)$  describes the density profile. The explicit expressions for the functions  $\mathcal{G}_3$  in linearized General Relativity as well as in GF<sub>1</sub> and GF<sub>2</sub> theories are given in Appendix F.

#### Higher dimensions

In higher dimensions one can proceed analogously to find expressions for the gyraton metrics. Instead of repeating previous steps, we give here an algorithmic procedure of how to construct such solutions in an arbitrary number of higher dimensions. First, given the number of spatial dimensions d, determine the number of Darboux planes n using (3.72). If d is even there will be an independent z-axis as well. Due to the rotational symmetry around the pre-boosted  $\bar{\xi}$ -direction it makes sense to introduce polar coordinates in each Darboux plane called  $\{\rho_a, \varphi_a\}$  where a labels the Darboux planes. This construction is unique, provided one fixes the direction of the polar angles  $\varphi_a$  to be right-handed with respect to the original  $\bar{\xi}$ -direction.

Second, one introduces the perpendicular radius variable  $r_{\perp}$  according to

$$r_{\perp}^{2} = \sum_{a=1}^{n} \rho_{a}^{2} + \epsilon z^{2} \,. \tag{4.60}$$

Recall that  $\epsilon = 1$  if d is even, and  $\epsilon = 0$  if d is odd. Now one can insert this radius variable into (4.35) and (4.39). In order to determine the static Green function  $\mathcal{G}_d(r_{\perp})$ in higher dimensions one may utilize the recursion formula (2.62) as well as Appendix F.

Last, one may want to start with a known line energy density  $\bar{\lambda}(\bar{\xi})$  as well as angular momentum line densities  $\bar{j}_a(\bar{\xi})$  in the original rest frame. In that case, Eqs. (4.28) and (4.30) provide prescriptions as to how to retrieve the resulting functions  $\lambda(u)$  and  $j_a(u)$  in retarded time.

Realistic gyratons may also have a finite transverse thickness, but due to the linearity of the problem it is always possible to supplement a transverse density function in (3.73) and construct the gravitational field of a "thick gyraton" by superposition.

# 4.6 Summary of chapter 4

This chapter is devoted to study fields of objects moving with very large speed close to the speed of light. For this purpose we apply the Lorentz boost to the stationary solutions of the nonlocal modification of the Maxwell and linearized gravity equations. We demonstrated that for a properly chosen scaling of the parameters of the stationary solutions one can obtain a well defined Penrose limit. We then proved a remarkable property that the Green functions: In the Penrose limit they are dimensionally reduced and factorized. Namely, after taking the Penrose limit, the Green function takes the form of a product of a delta-function localized at the null plane and a similar Green function in a space with one dimension less. We study and describe properties of the obtained solutions.

# Chapter 5 Summary and Discussion

Let us summarize the results included in this thesis. We study higher dimensional Maxwell and Einstein equations. General interest in such higher dimensional theories was motivated by string theory in which the existence of extra dimensions is important for the consistency of the theory. We considered nonlocal modifications of Maxwell and linearized gravity where the action and the field equations contain infinite number of derivatives. The assumptions that the theory possess Lorentz invariance and is invariant under corresponding gauge transformation greatly restrict the form of the actions. The next important assumption was that the modified theories contain the same number of physical degrees of freedom as its local counterpart. This assumption requires that the form factor of the nonlocal theory does not have zeroes on the complex plane of its argument. We focused on wide class of models  $GF_N$  with form factors of the form

$$f(\Box) = \exp\left[(-\ell^2 \Box)^N\right].$$
(5.1)

The chapters 2 and 3 of the thesis are devoted to the study of stationary solutions of point-like and extended sources in nonlocal versions of the Maxwell and linearized gravity equations. The main tool for this study is the method of Green function. Using static Green functions we obtained solutions for the higher-dimensional electromagnetic field of charged and magnetized sources in the nonlocal modification of the Maxwell theory (chapter 2). Similar results are also obtained for the gravitational field of massive spinning objects in the weak field approximation of the nonlocal gravity equations (chapter 3).

The analyses of the obtained solutions show that all of the solutions for the pointlike sources in the ghost-free modifications  $GF_N$  of the electromagnetism and gravity are regular at their origin. This is a common and interesting property of these models. Earlier publications demonstrated similar results for static (non-spinning) massive particles in the ghost-free gravity. We generalized these results in the two following ways:

- We proved the regularity of the gravitational field for massive spinning point-like particles in the modified nonlocal gravity;
- We obtained a similar result for the electromagnetic field of a point-like particle with electric charge and magnetic moment in the nonlocal modification of Maxwell theory.

In the second part of the thesis we studied the electromagnetic and gravitational field of ultrarelativistic objects. In our analysis we assume that the number  $D \ge 4$  of spacetime dimensions can be arbitrary. We also considered both local and nonlocal theories. To find a field of an ultrarelativistic object we first made a boost transformation of the stationary solutions obtained in chapters 2 and 3. After this, we considered a limit when the velocity of the boost tends to the speed of light. In order to obtain a finite physically meaningful result we accompanied this process by additional scaling transformations of the parameters of the initial stationary solutions. We demonstrated that these scaling transformations depend on the nature (spin) of the field. A very important technical point in obtaining these results is played by a special integral representation of the Green functions (see appendix E). This representation demonstrates that in the Penrose limit the d dimensional Green function is factorized and it can be presented as a product of the delta-function localized at the null plane and the corresponding (d-1)-dimensional Green function. This universal

behavior of the Green functions in the Penrose limit greatly simplifies obtaining the required solutions. We studied the obtained solutions for the fields of the ultrarelativistic objects and demonstrated that in the class of  $GF_N$  theories they are regular at the source position.

The results obtained in this thesis might have several interesting applications. They can be used for studying the scattering of two ultrarelativistic particles. This would allow one to single out properties of the scattering amplitudes which might indicate the the existence of extra dimensions and nonlocality. In the latter case, the experimental results might restrict the value of the nonlocality scale  $\ell$ . Another more complicated problem is to study how non-linearity of the nonlocal gravity equations modified the results obtained in the linear approximation. This is a very important question connected with the existence of black-hole and cosmological singularities. Finally, let us mention one more interesting problem. In Einstein gravity the Penrose limit of a weak field static solution coincides with the Aichelburg-Sexl metric which is an exact solution to the full non-linear Einstein equations. An open question is whether this property (under some reasonable conditions) is valid for the considered nonlocal theories. It would be interesting to answer these questions, which go far beyond the scope of this thesis.

# Bibliography

- J. Boos, J. Pinedo Soto, and V. P. Frolov, "Ultrarelativistic spinning objects in nonlocal ghost-free gravity," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D101, no. 12, p. 124065, 2020. arXiv: 2004.07420 [gr-qc].
- [2] J. Boos, V. P. Frolov, and J. Pinedo Soto, "Ultrarelativistic charged and magnetized objects in nonlocal ghost-free electrodynamics," *Physical Review D*, vol. 103, no. 4, 2021.
- [3] H. Yukawa, "On the radius of the elementary particle," Phys. Rev., vol. 76, no. 2, p. 300, 1949.
- [4] H. Yukawa, "Remarks on non-local spinor field," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 76, p. 1731, 1949.
- [5] H. Yukawa, "Quantum theory of non-local fields. Part I. Free fields," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 77, no. 2, p. 219, 1950.
- [6] H. Yukawa, "Quantum theory of non-local fields. Part II. Irreducible fields and their interaction," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 80, no. 6, p. 1047, 1950.
- G. V. Efimov, "Non-local quantum theory of the scalar field," Comm. Math. Phys., vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 42–56, 1967.
- [8] G. V. Efimov, "On the construction of nonlocal quantum electrodynamics," Annals Phys. (NY), vol. 71, pp. 466–485, 1972.
- [9] G. V. Efimov, M. A. Ivanov, and O. Mogilevsky, "Electron self-energy in nonlocal field theory," Annals Phys. (NY), vol. 103, pp. 169–184, 1977.
- [10] G. V. Efimov, "Quantization of non-local field theory," Int. J. Theor. Phys., vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 19–37, 1974.
- [11] G. V. Efimov, "On a class of relativistic invariant distributions," Comm. Math. Phys., vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 138–151, 1968.
- [12] P. H. Frampton and Y. Okada, "Effective Scalar Field Theory of P<sup>-</sup>adic String," Phys. Rev., vol. D37, pp. 3077–3079, 1988.
- [13] A. A. Tseytlin, "On singularities of spherically symmetric backgrounds in string theory," *Phys. Lett.*, vol. B363, pp. 223–229, 1995. arXiv: hep-th/9509050
   [hep-th].
- [14] E. Tomboulis, "Superrenormalizable gauge and gravitational theories," 1997. arXiv: hep-th/9702146 [hep-th].

- [15] T. Biswas, A. Mazumdar, and W. Siegel, "Bouncing universes in string-inspired gravity," JCAP, vol. 0603, p. 009, 2006. arXiv: hep-th/0508194 [hep-th].
- [16] T. Biswas, E. Gerwick, T. Koivisto, and A. Mazumdar, "Towards singularity and ghost free theories of gravity," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 108, p. 031 101, 2012. arXiv: 1110.5249 [gr-qc].
- [17] T. Biswas, A. Conroy, A. S. Koshelev, and A. Mazumdar, "Generalized ghostfree quadratic curvature gravity," *Class. Quant. Grav.*, vol. 31, p. 015 022, 2014. arXiv: 1308.2319 [hep-th].
- [18] T. Biswas, J. A. R. Cembranos, and J. I. Kapusta, "Finite Temperature Solitons in Non-Local Field Theories from p-Adic Strings," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D82, p. 085 028, 2010. arXiv: 1006.4098 [hep-th].
- [19] L. Modesto, "Super-renormalizable Quantum Gravity," Phys. Rev., vol. D86, p. 044 005, 2012. arXiv: 1107.2403 [hep-th].
- [20] J. Boos, V. P. Frolov, and A. Zelnikov, "Gravitational field of static p -branes in linearized ghost-free gravity," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D97, no. 8, p. 084021, 2018. arXiv: 1802.09573 [gr-qc].
- [21] L. Buoninfante, G. Harmsen, S. Maheshwari, and A. Mazumdar, "Non-singular metric for an electrically charged point-source in ghost-free infinite derivative gravity," 2018. arXiv: 1804.09624 [gr-qc].
- [22] J. Edholm, A. S. Koshelev, and A. Mazumdar, "Behavior of the Newtonian potential for ghost-free gravity and singularity-free gravity," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D94, no. 10, p. 104033, 2016. arXiv: 1604.01989 [gr-qc].
- [23] L. Buoninfante, A. S. Koshelev, G. Lambiase, J. Marto, and A. Mazumdar, "Conformally-flat, non-singular static metric in infinite derivative gravity," 2018. arXiv: 1804.08195 [gr-qc].
- [24] B. L. Giacchini and T. de Paula Netto, "Effective delta sources and regularity in higher-derivative and ghost-free gravity," *JCAP*, vol. 1907, no. 07, p. 013, 2019. arXiv: 1809.05907 [gr-qc].
- [25] J. Boos, "Angle deficit & non-local gravitoelectromagnetism around a slowly spinning cosmic string," Mar. 2020. arXiv: 2003.13847 [gr-qc].
- [26] I. Kolar and A. Mazumdar, "NUT charge in linearized infinite derivative gravity," 2020. arXiv: 2004.07613 [gr-qc].
- [27] J. Boos, "Effects of Non-locality in Gravity and Quantum Theory," Ph.D. Thesis, Alberta U., Sep. 2020. arXiv: 2009.10856 [gr-qc].
- [28] A. Conroy, A. Mazumdar, and A. Teimouri, "Wald Entropy for Ghost-Free, Infinite Derivative Theories of Gravity," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 114, no. 20, p. 201101, 2015. arXiv: 1503.05568 [hep-th].
- [29] Y.-D. Li, L. Modesto, and L. Rachwał, "Exact solutions and spacetime singularities in nonlocal gravity," *JHEP*, vol. 12, p. 173, 2015. arXiv: 1506.08619 [hep-th].
- [30] G. Calcagni and L. Modesto, "Stability of Schwarzschild singularity in non-local gravity," *Phys. Lett.*, vol. B773, pp. 596–600, 2017. arXiv: 1707.01119 [gr-qc].
- [31] A. S. Koshelev, J. Marto, and A. Mazumdar, "Schwarzschild 1/r-singularity is not permissible in ghost free quadratic curvature infinite derivative gravity," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D98, no. 6, p. 064 023, 2018. arXiv: 1803.00309 [gr-qc].
- [32] J. Boos, V. P. Frolov, and A. Zelnikov, "Ghost-free modification of the Polyakov action and Hawking radiation," *Phys. Rev. D*, vol. 100, no. 10, p. 104008, 2019. arXiv: 1909.01494 [hep-th].
- [33] T. Biswas, T. Koivisto, and A. Mazumdar, "Towards a resolution of the cosmological singularity in non-local higher derivative theories of gravity," *JCAP*, vol. 1011, p. 008, 2010. arXiv: 1005.0590 [hep-th].
- [34] G. Calcagni, L. Modesto, and P. Nicolini, "Super-accelerating bouncing cosmology in asymptotically-free non-local gravity," *Eur. Phys. J.*, vol. C74, no. 8, p. 2999, 2014. arXiv: 1306.5332 [gr-qc].
- [35] J. Boos, V. P. Frolov, and A. Zelnikov, "Quantum scattering on a delta potential in ghost-free theory," *Phys. Lett.*, vol. B782, pp. 688–693, 2018. arXiv: 1805. 01875 [hep-th].
- [36] L. Buoninfante, A. Mazumdar, and J. Peng, "Nonlocality amplifies echoes," 2019. arXiv: 1906.03624 [gr-qc].
- [37] I. L. Shapiro, "Counting ghosts in the "ghost-free" non-local gravity," Phys. Lett., vol. B744, pp. 67–73, 2015. arXiv: 1502.00106 [hep-th].
- [38] V. P. Frolov and A. Zelnikov, "Radiation from an emitter in the ghost free scalar theory," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D93, no. 10, p. 105048, 2016. arXiv: 1603.00826 [hep-th].
- [39] L. Modesto, L. a. Rachwał, and I. L. Shapiro, "Renormalization group in superrenormalizable quantum gravity," *Eur. Phys. J. C*, vol. 78, no. 7, p. 555, 2018. arXiv: 1704.03988 [hep-th].
- [40] M. Asorey, L. Rachwal, and I. L. Shapiro, "Unitary Issues in Some Higher Derivative Field Theories," *Galaxies*, vol. 6, no. 1, p. 23, 2018. arXiv: 1802.01036 [hep-th].
- [41] G. Calcagni, L. Modesto, and G. Nardelli, "Nonperturbative spectrum of nonlocal gravity," 2018. arXiv: 1803.07848 [hep-th].
- [42] L. Buoninfante, G. Lambiase, and A. Mazumdar, "Ghost-free infinite derivative quantum field theory," *Nucl. Phys. B*, vol. 944, p. 114646, 2019. arXiv: 1805. 03559 [hep-th].
- [43] J. Boos, V. P. Frolov, and A. Zelnikov, "Probing the vacuum fluctuations in scalar ghost-free theories," *Phys. Rev. D*, vol. 99, no. 7, p. 076014, 2019. arXiv: 1901.07096 [hep-th].
- [44] W. B. Bonnor, "Solutions of maxwell's equations for charge moving with the speed of light," Int. J. Theor. Phys., vol. 2, pp. 373–379, 1969.

- [45] R. C. Tolman, P. Ehrenfest, and B. Podolsky, "On the gravitational field produced by light," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 37, pp. 602–615, 5 1931.
- [46] W. B. Bonnor, "The gravitational field of light," Communications in Mathematical Physics, vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 163–174, 1969.
- [47] F. Schneiter, D. Ratzel, and D. Braun, "The gravitational field of a laser beam beyond the short wavelength approximation," *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, vol. 35, no. 19, p. 195007, 2018.
- [48] W. B. Bonnor, "Spinning null fluid in general relativity," Int. J. Theor. Phys., vol. 3, pp. 257–266, 1970.
- [49] N. V. Mitskievic and K. K. Kumaradtya, "The gravitational field of a spinning pencil of light," *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, vol. 30, no. 5, pp. 1095–1099, 1989. eprint: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.528380.
- [50] D. Lynden-Bellák, familyi=v., given=J., giveni=J., ,, and, "Komar fluxes of circularly polarized light beams and cylindrical metrics," *Phys. Rev. D*, vol. 96, p. 104 053, 10 2017.
- [51] V. P. Frolov and D. V. Fursaev, "Gravitational field of a spinning radiation beam-pulse in higher dimensions," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D71, p. 104034, 2005. arXiv: hep-th/0504027 [hep-th].
- [52] V. P. Frolov, W. Israel, and A. Zelnikov, "Gravitational field of relativistic gyratons," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D72, p. 084 031, 2005. arXiv: hep-th/0506001 [hep-th].
- [53] V. P. Frolov and A. Zelnikov, "Gravitational field of charged gyratons," *Class. Quant. Grav.*, vol. 23, pp. 2119–2128, 2006. arXiv: gr-qc/0512124 [gr-qc].
- [54] V. P. Frolov and A. Zelnikov, "Relativistic gyratons in asymptotically ads spacetime," Phys. Rev., vol. D72, p. 104005, 2005. arXiv: hep-th/0509044 [hep-th].
- [55] H. Kadlecova and P. Krtous, "The gyraton solutions on generalized Melvin universe with cosmological constant," in *Proceedings, Workshop on Black Holes* and Neutron Stars (RAGtime 10-13): Opava, Czech Republic, September 15-17, 2008; September 20-22, 2009; September 15-17, 2010; September 14-16, 2011, 2016. arXiv: 1610.08225 [gr-qc].
- [56] V. P. Frolov and F.-L. Lin, "String gyratons in supergravity," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D73, p. 104028, 2006. arXiv: hep-th/0603018 [hep-th].
- [57] H. Stephani, D. Kramer, M. A. MacCallum, C. Hoenselaers, and E. Herlt, *Exact solutions of Einstein's field equations*, ser. Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics. Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press, 2003.
- [58] H. Kadlecova, A. Zelnikov, P. Krtous, and J. Podolsky, "Gyratons on directproduct spacetimes," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D80, p. 024004, 2009. arXiv: 0905.2476 [gr-qc].
- [59] P. Krtous, J. Podolsky, A. Zelnikov, and H. Kadlecova, "Higher-dimensional Kundt waves and gyratons," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D86, p. 044039, 2012. arXiv: 1201.2813 [gr-qc].

- [60] J. Podolsky, R. Steinbauer, and R. Svarc, "Gyratonic pp-waves and their impulsive limit," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D90, no. 4, p. 044050, 2014. arXiv: 1406.3227 [gr-qc].
- [61] J. Podolsky and R. Svarc, "Gyratons in the Robinson-Trautman and Kundt classes," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D99, no. 4, p. 044004, 2019. arXiv: 1812.02635 [gr-qc].
- [62] P. C. Aichelburg and R. U. Sexl, "On the Gravitational field of a massless particle," *Gen. Rel. Grav.*, vol. 2, pp. 303–312, 1971.
- [63] R. Penrose, "Any space-time has a plane wave as a limit," in Differential Geometry and Relativity: A Volume in Honour of André Lichnerowicz on His 60th Birthday, M. Cahen and M. Flato, Eds. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands, 1976, pp. 271–275.
- [64] D. M. Eardley and S. B. Giddings, "Classical black hole production in highenergy collisions," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D66, p. 044 011, 2002. arXiv: gr-qc/0201034 [gr-qc].
- [65] H. Yoshino and Y. Nambu, "Black hole formation in the grazing collision of highenergy particles," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D67, p. 024 009, 2003. arXiv: gr-qc/0209003 [gr-qc].
- [66] S. B. Giddings and V. S. Rychkov, "Black holes from colliding wavepackets," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D70, p. 104026, 2004. arXiv: hep-th/0409131 [hep-th].
- [67] H. Yoshino and V. S. Rychkov, "Improved analysis of black hole formation in high-energy particle collisions," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D71, p. 104028, 2005, [Erratum: Phys. Rev.D77,089905(2008)]. arXiv: hep-th/0503171 [hep-th].
- [68] H. Yoshino and R. B. Mann, "Black hole formation in the head-on collision of ultrarelativistic charges," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D74, p. 044003, 2006. arXiv: gr-qc/0605131 [gr-qc].
- [69] H. Yoshino, A. Zelnikov, and V. P. Frolov, "Apparent horizon formation in the head-on collision of gyratons," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D75, p. 124005, 2007. arXiv: gr-qc/0703127 [gr-qc].
- [70] V. P. Frolov and A. Zelnikov, Introduction to Black Hole Physics. Oxford: Oxford Univ. Press, 2011.
- [71] V. P. Frolov, "Mass-gap for black hole formation in higher derivative and ghost free gravity," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 115, no. 5, p. 051102, 2015. arXiv: 1505. 00492 [hep-th].
- [72] V. P. Frolov, A. Zelnikov, and T. de Paula Netto, "Spherical collapse of small masses in the ghost-free gravity," *JHEP*, vol. 06, p. 107, 2015. arXiv: 1504.00412 [hep-th].
- [73] V. P. Frolov and A. Zelnikov, "Head-on collision of ultrarelativistic particles in ghost-free theories of gravity," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D93, no. 6, p. 064 048, 2016. arXiv: 1509.03336 [hep-th].

- B. L. Giacchini and T. de Paula Netto, "Weak-field limit and regular solutions in polynomial higher-derivative gravities," *Eur. Phys. J. C*, vol. 79, no. 3, p. 217, 2019. arXiv: 1806.05664 [gr-qc].
- [75] J. D. Jackson, *Classical Electrodynamics*, 3rd ed. Wiley, 1999.
- [76] A. V. Silva, E. M. C. Abreu, and M. J. Neves, "Quantum electrodynamics and the electron self-energy in a deformed space with a minimal length scale," *International Journal of Modern Physics A*, vol. 31, no. 17, p. 1650096, 2016.
- [77] F. W. Olver, D. W. Lozier, R. F. Boisvert, and C. W. Clark, NIST Handbook of Mathematical Functions, 1st. New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press, 2010.
- [78] F. R. F. R. Gantmacher, The Theory of Matrices. New York, NY, USA: Chelsea Publishing Company, 1959, vol. 1, pp. x + 374.
- [79] F. R. F. R. Gantmacher, The Theory of Matrices. New York, NY, USA: Chelsea Publishing Company, 1959, vol. 2, pp. ix + 276.
- [80] V. Prasolov, *Problems and Theorems in Linear Algebra*, ser. Translations of mathematical monographs. American Mathematical Society, 1996.
- [81] T. Biswas, T. Koivisto, and A. Mazumdar, "Nonlocal theories of gravity: the flat space propagator," in *Proceedings, Barcelona Postgrad Encounters on Fundamental Physics*, 2013, pp. 13–24. arXiv: 1302.0532 [gr-qc].
- [82] A. O. Barvinsky and G. A. Vilkovisky, "Covariant perturbation theory. 2: Second order in the curvature. General algorithms," *Nucl. Phys.*, vol. B333, pp. 471–511, 1990.
- [83] L. Modesto, T. de Paula Netto, and I. L. Shapiro, "On Newtonian singularities in higher derivative gravity models," *JHEP*, vol. 04, p. 098, 2015. arXiv: 1412. 0740 [hep-th].
- [84] L. Buoninfante, A. S. Cornell, G. Harmsen, A. S. Koshelev, G. Lambiase, J. Marto, and A. Mazumdar, "Towards nonsingular rotating compact object in ghost-free infinite derivative gravity," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. D98, no. 8, p. 084041, 2018. arXiv: 1807.08896 [gr-qc].
- [85] R. C. Myers and M. J. Perry, "Black Holes in Higher Dimensional Space-Times," Annals Phys., vol. 172, p. 304, 1986.
- [86] R. Shankar, Principles of Quantum Mechanics, Second. New York, USA: Plenum Press, 1994.
- [87] L. D. Landau and E. M. Lifshitz, *The Classical Theory of Fields*, Third, ser. Course of Theoretical Physics. Bristol, UK: Pergamon Press, 1971, vol. 2.

# Appendix A: Field of a magnetized pencil

In this appendix we give an expression for the potential of an *m*-pencil in three spatial dimensions, which is used in the main body of this thesis. To that end, let us consider a thin cylinder of radius R of the length L along the  $\bar{\xi}$ -axis. Let us further assume that the cylinder has a total electric charge Q and is rotating with the angular velocity  $\omega$  around its symmetry axis. If one wishes to consider an uncharged magnetized object, then—by linearity of the Maxwell equations—one may just add another cylinder with the opposite charge -Q. At any rate, the magnetic moment **m** of a system of charges  $q_a$  located at  $\mathbf{r}_a$  and moving with velocity  $\mathbf{v}_a$  is given by the following expression [87]:

$$\boldsymbol{m} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{a} q_a [\boldsymbol{r}_a \times \boldsymbol{v}_a].$$
 (A.1)

In cylindrical coordinates  $\{\rho, \varphi, \overline{\xi}\}$  the magnetic moment of the rotating charged cylinder takes the form

$$m = (0, 0, \bar{m}), \quad \bar{m} = \frac{1}{2}QR^2\omega.$$
 (A.2)

The current density of a system of charged particles is

$$\bar{\boldsymbol{J}} = \sum_{a} q_a \boldsymbol{v}_a \delta^{(d)} (\boldsymbol{r} - \boldsymbol{r}_a) \,. \tag{A.3}$$

For the rotating cylinder one finds

$$\bar{\boldsymbol{J}} = (0, \bar{J}^{\varphi}, 0),$$
  
$$\bar{J}^{\varphi} = \frac{Q\omega}{2\pi R \bar{L}} \delta(\rho - R) \Theta \left( \bar{\xi} | -\bar{L}/2, \bar{L}/2 \right).$$
 (A.4)

The field equations (2.6) give the following equation for the potential  $\bar{A}_{\varphi}$ :

$$\rho \partial_{\rho} \left( \frac{1}{\rho} \partial_{\rho} \bar{A}_{\varphi} \right) + \partial_{\bar{\xi}}^2 \bar{A}_{\varphi} = \bar{J}_{\varphi} \,. \tag{A.5}$$

Let us denote  $\partial_{\rho} \bar{A}_{\varphi} = \rho Z$ , then (A.5) gives

$$\frac{1}{\rho}\partial_{\rho}\left(\rho\partial_{\rho}Z\right) + \partial_{\bar{\xi}}^{2}Z = j, \qquad (A.6)$$

where  $j(\rho) = \frac{1}{\rho} \partial_{\rho} \bar{J}_{\varphi}$ . The left-hand side of this equation is nothing but the flat three-dimensional Laplace operator in cylindrical coordinates applied to the function  $Z(\rho, \bar{\xi})$ . Using the Green function of this operator, expressed in cylindrical coordinates, one then obtains

$$Z(\rho,\bar{\xi}) = \int_{-\bar{L}/2}^{\bar{L}/2} \mathrm{d}\bar{\xi}' \int_{0}^{2\pi} \rho' \mathrm{d}\varphi' P, \ P = -\int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\rho' \frac{j(\rho')}{4\pi r},$$
(A.7)

$$r = (\rho^2 + {\rho'}^2 - 2\rho\rho'\cos\varphi' + z^2)^{1/2}.$$
 (A.8)

Here we abbreviated  $z = \overline{\xi} - \overline{\xi}'$ . The integral for P can be evaluated with the following result

$$P = \frac{Q\omega R}{8\pi^2 \bar{L}} \frac{\partial}{\partial R} \left(\frac{1}{r}\right) , \qquad (A.9)$$

where r is given by (A.8) subject to the substitution  $\rho' = R$  in this expression. Using definition (A.2) of the magnetic moment one can write

$$Z(\rho,\bar{\xi}) = \frac{\bar{m}}{4\pi^2 R \bar{L}} \int_{-\bar{L}/2}^{\bar{L}/2} \mathrm{d}\bar{\xi}' \frac{\partial I}{\partial R}.$$
 (A.10)

Here we introduced the shorthand notation

$$I = \int_{0}^{2\pi} \frac{\mathrm{d}\varphi}{r} = \frac{4K\left(\frac{2\sqrt{R\rho}}{\sqrt{(\rho+R)^2 + z^2}}\right)}{\sqrt{(\rho+R)^2 + z^2}},$$
(A.11)

where K is the complete elliptic integral of second type. Using its expansion for small values of its argument one can find

$$S = \lim_{R \to 0} \frac{1}{R} \partial_R I = \pi \frac{\rho^2 - 2z^2}{(\rho^2 + z^2)^{5/2}}.$$
 (A.12)

Using these results and restoring  $\bar{A}_{\varphi}$  one obtains

$$\bar{A}_{\varphi} = \frac{\bar{m}}{4\pi\bar{L}} \int_{-\bar{L}/2}^{\bar{L}/2} \mathrm{d}\bar{\xi}' \int_{0}^{\rho} \mathrm{d}\rho'\rho' S \,. \tag{A.13}$$

Performing the integration over  $\rho'$  and  $\bar{\xi}'$  finally yields

$$\bar{A}_{\varphi} = \frac{\bar{m}}{4\pi\bar{L}} \left( \frac{\bar{\xi}_{+}}{\sqrt{\rho^{2} + \bar{\xi}_{+}^{2}}} - \frac{\bar{\xi}_{-}}{\sqrt{\rho^{2} + \bar{\xi}_{-}^{2}}} \right) , \qquad (A.14)$$

where we abbreviated  $\bar{\xi}_{\pm} = \bar{\xi} \pm \bar{L}/2$ . Let us mention that this expression for the field of a magnetized infinitely thin pencil can be also obtained by using the expression for the potential of a magnetized solenoid of finite radius R, which can be found in Jackson's book [75].

#### **Appendix B: Darboux basis**

Consider a skew-symmetric matrix  $A_{ij} = -A_{ji}$  in  $d = 2n + \epsilon$  dimensional space. Let  $\gamma_{ij}$  be the Euclidean metric in it. We define  $A^i{}_j = \gamma^{ik}A_{kj}$ . Let  $\boldsymbol{v}$  be a vector with components  $v^j$ . We denote  $\boldsymbol{A}\boldsymbol{v} = \boldsymbol{u}$ , where  $\boldsymbol{u}$  is a vector with components  $u^i = A^i{}_j v^j$ . Since for any vector  $\boldsymbol{u}$  one has

$$\langle \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{u} \rangle = \gamma_{ij} u^i u^j \ge 0,$$
 (B.1)

then

$$0 \le \gamma_{ij} A^{i}{}_{k} v^{k} A^{j}{}_{m} v^{m} = -v^{k} A^{j}{}_{k} A^{j}{}_{m} v^{m} = -\langle \boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{A}^{2} \boldsymbol{v} \rangle .$$
(B.2)

This means that a symmetric matrix  $A^2$  is non-positive definite.

Consider eigenvectors of  $A^2$ . Let v be its eigenvector

$$\boldsymbol{A}^2 \boldsymbol{v} = -\lambda^2 \boldsymbol{v} \,. \tag{B.3}$$

Denote  $\boldsymbol{u}\boldsymbol{A} = \boldsymbol{v}$ . Then

$$\boldsymbol{A}^{2}\boldsymbol{u} = \boldsymbol{A}\boldsymbol{A}^{2}\boldsymbol{v} = -\lambda^{2}\boldsymbol{A}\boldsymbol{v} = -\lambda^{2}\boldsymbol{u}. \tag{B.4}$$

In other words, if  $\boldsymbol{v}$  is the eigenvector of  $\boldsymbol{A}^2$  with the eigenvalue  $-\lambda^2$ , then the same is true for the vector  $\boldsymbol{u}$ . It is easy to see that these two vectors are orthogonal,  $\langle \boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v} \rangle = 0$ . We chose the vector  $\boldsymbol{v}$  to have unit norm, then the vector  $\hat{\boldsymbol{v}} = \boldsymbol{u}/\lambda$  is also a unit vector.

Let us enumerate the eigenvalues and eigenvectors by index a. Let us assume that the matrix A in non-degenerate, that is:

• It has maximal number of non-vanishing eigenvalues n, that is  $a = 1, \ldots, n$ ;

• All these eigenvalues are different.

Then it is easy to check that eigenvectors with different eigenvalues are mutually orthogonal. Really

$$-\lambda_{a_2}^2 < \boldsymbol{v}_{a_1}, \boldsymbol{v}_{a_2} > = < \boldsymbol{v}_{a_1}, \boldsymbol{A}^2 \boldsymbol{v}_{a_2} > = < \boldsymbol{v}_{a_2}, \boldsymbol{A}^2 \boldsymbol{v}_{a_1} > = -\lambda_{a_1}^2 < \boldsymbol{v}_{a_1}, \boldsymbol{v}_{a_2} > .$$
(B.5)

Since  $\lambda_{a_2} \neq \lambda_{a_1}$  then  $\langle \boldsymbol{v}_{a_1}, \boldsymbol{v}_{a_2} \rangle = 0$ . Thus one has n mutually orthonormal pairs of vectors  $(\boldsymbol{v}_a, \hat{\boldsymbol{v}}_a)$ . Each such pair spans a two-plane  $\Pi_a$ . For even d = 2n these two-planes span all the d dimensional space. For odd d = 2n + 1 there exist one more spatial direction, orthogonal to all the two planes. The basis constructed of  $\boldsymbol{v}_a, \hat{\boldsymbol{v}}_a$ vectors is called Darboux basis. The corresponding Cartesian coordinates are known as Darboux coordinates.

In this Darboux basis the matrix  $\boldsymbol{A}$  has the form

$$\boldsymbol{A} = \operatorname{diag}(\Lambda_1, \dots, \Lambda_n, 0) \,. \tag{B.6}$$

Where

$$\Lambda_a = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \lambda_a \\ -\lambda_a & 0 \end{bmatrix} . \tag{B.7}$$

The last term 0 in (B.6) is present when d is odd, so that  $\epsilon = 1$ . One can show that a similar representation is valid also when the matrix A is degenerate. Further details can be found in [80].

## Appendix C: Gauge invariance of the linearized gravity equations

Let us show that both the action and the field equations of the linearized gravity are invariant under gauge transformations. Consider the following transformation of the metric perturbation

$$h_{\mu\nu} \to h_{\mu\nu} - (\xi_{\mu,\nu} + \xi_{\nu,\mu})$$
 . (C.1)

Here  $\xi_{\mu}(X)$  are arbitrary functions. Let us apply this transformation to the linearized Einstein action

$$S_g = -\frac{1}{2\kappa} \int dX \left( -\frac{1}{2} h^{\mu\nu} \Box h_{\mu\nu} + h^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \partial_\alpha h^\alpha{}_\nu - h^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \partial_\nu h + \frac{1}{2} h \Box h \right) \,. \tag{C.2}$$

We denote by  $\delta_{\xi}S_g$  the change of the action under the gauge transformation and keep only the first order  $\xi_{\mu}$  terms in it. It is convenient to consider separately the variation of each of the four terms in the integrand of (C.2) which we denote by  $\delta S_{gi}$ , i = 1, 2, 3, 4. For the first term inside the parenthesis we have

$$\delta_{\xi} S_{g1} = -\frac{1}{2\kappa} \int dX \left( \frac{1}{2} (\xi^{\mu,\nu} + \xi^{\nu,\mu}) \Box h_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} h^{\mu\nu} \Box (\xi_{\mu,\nu} + \xi_{\nu,\mu}) \right)$$
  
=  $-\frac{1}{2\kappa} \int dX \left( h^{\mu\nu} \Box (\xi_{\mu,\nu} + \xi_{\nu,\mu}) \right) .$  (C.3)

The variation of the second term yields

$$\delta_{\xi}S_{g2} = -\frac{1}{2\kappa} \int dX \left( -h^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\alpha}(\xi^{\alpha}{}_{,\nu} + \xi_{\nu}{}_{,\alpha}{}^{\alpha}) - (\xi^{\mu,\nu} + \xi^{\nu,\mu})\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\alpha}h^{\alpha}{}_{\nu} \right)$$
  
$$= -\frac{1}{2\kappa} \int dX \left( -2h^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\alpha}(\xi^{\alpha}{}_{,\nu} + \xi_{\nu}{}_{,\alpha}{}^{\alpha}) \right) .$$
(C.4)

The variation of third term gives

$$\delta_{\xi}S_{g3} = -\frac{1}{2\kappa} \int dX \left( h^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}(\xi^{\alpha}{}_{,\alpha} + \xi_{\alpha}{}_{,\alpha}{}^{\alpha}) + (\xi^{\mu,\nu} + \xi^{\nu,\mu})\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}h \right)$$
  
$$= -\frac{1}{\kappa} \int dX \left( h^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\xi^{\alpha}{}_{,\alpha} + h\Box\xi^{\alpha}{}_{,\alpha} \right) .$$
(C.5)

Finally

$$\delta_{\xi} S_{g4} = -\frac{1}{2\kappa} \int dX \left( -\frac{1}{2} h \Box (\xi^{\mu}{}_{,\mu} + \xi_{\mu}{}_{,\mu}{}^{\mu}) - \frac{1}{2} (\xi^{\alpha}{}_{,\alpha} + \xi_{\alpha}{}_{,\alpha}{}^{\alpha}) \Box h \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{\kappa} \int dX h \Box \xi^{\mu}{}_{,\mu} .$$
(C.6)

Combining these results we obtain

$$\delta_{\xi}S_{g} = -\frac{1}{\kappa} \int dX \left( h^{\mu\nu} \Box \xi_{\mu,\nu} - h^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\alpha} (\xi^{\alpha}{}_{,\nu} + \xi_{\nu,}{}^{\alpha}) + h^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \xi^{\alpha}{}_{,\alpha} \right).$$
(C.7)

The expression under the integral vanishes and we have

$$\delta_{\xi} S_g = 0. \tag{C.8}$$

This proves the gauge invariance of the linearized action (C.1).

Similarly, for the linearized field equations

$$G_{\mu\nu} \equiv \partial_{\sigma} \left( \partial_{\nu} h_{\mu}{}^{\sigma} + \partial_{\mu} h_{\nu}{}^{\sigma} \right) + \eta_{\mu\nu} \left( \partial_{\rho} \partial_{\sigma} h^{\rho\sigma} - \Box h \right)$$
  
+  $\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} h = -2\kappa T_{\mu\nu} .$  (C.9)

We can perform the same gauge transformation (C.1) to obtain the variation. Using the same procedure as we did for the action, that is, going term by term one obtains

$$\delta_{\xi} G^{1}_{\mu\nu} = -\Box(\xi_{\mu,\nu} + \xi_{\nu,\mu}), \qquad (C.10)$$

$$\delta_{\xi} G_{\mu\nu}^2 = \partial_{\sigma} \left[ (\partial_{\nu} (\xi_{\mu,\sigma} + \xi^{\sigma}_{,\mu}) + \partial_{\mu} (\xi^{\sigma}_{\nu,} + \xi^{\sigma}_{,\nu}) \right] , \qquad (C.11)$$

$$\delta_{\xi}G^{3}_{\mu\nu} = -\eta_{\mu\nu}\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\sigma}(\xi^{\rho,\sigma} + \xi^{\sigma,\rho}) + \eta_{\mu\nu}\Box(\xi^{\alpha}{}_{,\alpha} + \xi_{\alpha}{}^{,\alpha}), \qquad (C.12)$$

$$\delta_{\xi} G_{\mu\nu}{}^{4} = -\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} (\xi^{\alpha}{}_{,\alpha} + \xi_{\alpha}{}^{\alpha}) . \qquad (C.13)$$

First, we check that

$$\delta_{\xi} G_{\mu\nu}{}^{3} = \eta_{\mu\nu} g^{\rho\alpha} g^{\sigma\beta} \left( \partial_{\rho} \partial_{\sigma} \partial_{\beta} \xi_{\alpha} + \partial_{\rho} \partial_{\sigma} \partial_{\alpha} \xi_{\beta} - \partial_{\beta} \partial_{\sigma} \partial_{\alpha} \xi_{\rho} - \partial_{\beta} \partial_{\sigma} \partial_{\rho} \xi_{\alpha} \right) \,. \tag{C.14}$$

If one makes the change  $\rho \leftrightarrow \alpha$  on the first term and  $\alpha \leftrightarrow \beta$ ,  $\rho \leftrightarrow \sigma$  on the second one all terms cancel

$$\delta_{\xi} G^3_{\mu\nu} = 0. \qquad (C.15)$$

By combining the remaining terms we get

$$\delta_{\xi}G_{\mu\nu} = \delta_{\xi}G^{1}_{\mu\nu} + \delta_{\xi}G^{2}_{\mu\nu} + \delta_{\xi}G^{4}_{\mu\nu} = g^{\alpha\beta} \left( -\partial_{\alpha}\partial_{\beta}\partial_{\nu}\xi_{\mu} - \partial_{\alpha}\partial_{\beta}\partial_{\mu}\xi_{\nu} + \partial_{\alpha}\partial_{\nu}\partial_{\beta}\xi_{\mu} + \partial_{\alpha}\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\xi_{\beta} + \partial_{\alpha}\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\xi_{\beta} - \partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\partial_{\mu}\xi_{\beta} - \partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\partial_{\beta}\xi_{\alpha} \right) = 0.$$

$$(C.16)$$

Therefore, we conclude that both the linearized action and the linearized field equations are invariant under the gauge transformation. Let us emphasize that in the above relations we do not use the property that the number of spacetime dimensions is four. In fact, this result does not depend on the number of dimensions and is valid in the higher dimensional case.

### Appendix D: Mass and angular momentum of extended objects

We denote by  $X^{\mu} = (t, x^{\alpha})$  Cartesian coordinates in d + 1 dimensional Minkowski spacetime and use indices  $\alpha, \beta, \ldots = 1, 2, \ldots, d$  from the beginning of the Greek alphabet to label spatial coordinates. Let us consider distribution of matter described by the stress-energy of the form

$$T_{00} = \rho(\boldsymbol{x}), \quad T_{0\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\beta}} j_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{x}), \quad T_{\alpha\beta} = 0,$$
 (D.1)

where  $j_{\alpha\beta}(\boldsymbol{x})$  is an anti-symmetric tensor function. It is easy to check that this stressenergy tensor satisfies the required conservation law  $\partial_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu} = 0$ . Denote by  $\boldsymbol{\xi}_{(\mu)}$  a generator of the spacetime translations, and by  $\boldsymbol{\zeta}_{(\alpha\beta)}$  the generators of the rigid spatial rotations, then one has

$$\boldsymbol{\xi}_{(\mu)} = \xi^{\nu}_{(\mu)} \partial_{\nu} = \partial_{\mu} \,, \tag{D.2}$$

$$\boldsymbol{\zeta}_{(\alpha\beta)} = \boldsymbol{\zeta}_{(\alpha\beta)}^{\nu} \partial_{\nu} = x_{\alpha} \partial_{\beta} - x_{\beta} \partial_{\alpha} \,. \tag{D.3}$$

The conserved quantities related to these symmetries are

$$P_{\mu} = \int d^{d}x \, T_{0\nu} \xi^{\nu}_{(\mu)} \,, \qquad (D.4)$$

$$J_{\alpha\beta} = \int \mathrm{d}^d x \, T_{0\gamma} \boldsymbol{\zeta}^{\gamma}_{(\alpha\beta)} \,. \tag{D.5}$$

Or in an explicit form

$$M = P_0 = \int d^d x T_{00} , \qquad (D.6)$$

$$P_{\alpha} = \int \mathrm{d}^d x \, T_{0\alpha} \,, \tag{D.7}$$

$$J_{\alpha\beta} = \int d^d x \left( x_{\alpha} T_{0\beta} - x_{\beta} T_{0\alpha} \right).$$
 (D.8)

We assume that the stress-energy tensor (D.1) either vanishes outside some compact region, or it is sufficiently fast decreasing at far spatial distance, so that the surface terms arising as a result of integration by parts in (D.8) vanish. Simple calculations give

$$M = \int \mathrm{d}^d x \, T_{00}, \ P_\alpha = 0, \ J_{\alpha\beta} = \int \mathrm{d}^d x \, j_{\alpha\beta} \,. \tag{D.9}$$

The relation  $P_{\alpha} = 0$  implies that the stress-energy tensor (D.1) is written in the center of mass frame.

# Appendix E: "Heat kernel" representation

The static Green function  $\mathcal{G}_d$  considered in this thesis satisfies the relation

$$f(\triangle) \triangle \mathcal{G}_d(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{x'}) = -\delta(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{x'}).$$
 (E.1)

Here  $\triangle$  is a Laplace operator in *d*-dimensional space. We denote by  $K_d(\boldsymbol{x}|\tau)$  the *d*-dimensional "heat kernel" of  $\triangle$  under the Wick rotation  $t = -i\tau^1$ . It is defined as a solution of the equation

$$\Delta K_d(\boldsymbol{x}|\tau) = -i\partial_\tau K_d(\boldsymbol{x}|\tau), \qquad (E.2)$$

obeying the boundary conditions

$$\lim_{\tau \to 0} K_d(\boldsymbol{x}|\tau) = \delta(\boldsymbol{x}),$$

$$\lim_{\tau \to \pm \infty} K_d(\boldsymbol{x}|\tau) = 0.$$
(E.3)

It has the following explicit form:

$$K_d(\boldsymbol{x}|\tau) = \frac{1}{(4\pi i\tau)^{d/2}} \exp\left(\frac{i\boldsymbol{x}^2}{4\tau}\right) . \tag{E.4}$$

Let us define the object  $\mathcal{K}_d(\boldsymbol{x}|\tau)$  as a solution of the equation

$$f(\Delta)\mathcal{K}_d(\boldsymbol{x}|\tau) = iK_d(\boldsymbol{x}|\tau).$$
 (E.5)

Then it is easy to check the required Green function  $\mathcal{G}_d$  can be written in the form

$$\mathcal{G}_d(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{x'}) = \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}\tau \, \mathcal{K}_d(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{x'} | \tau) \,. \tag{E.6}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Strictly speaking the notion of the heat kernel is introduced for the parabolic equations. The equation (E.2) has the form of the Schrödinger equation. For brevity, we still use the name "heat kernel" with quotation marks.

We introduce now the Fourier transform of  $\mathcal{K}_d$  and its inverse by means of the relations

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{K}}_{d}(\boldsymbol{x}|\omega) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\tau \, e^{i\omega\tau} \mathcal{K}_{d}(\boldsymbol{x}|\tau) \,,$$

$$\mathcal{K}_{d}(\boldsymbol{x}|\tau) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}\omega}{2\pi} \, e^{-i\omega\tau} \widetilde{\mathcal{K}}_{d}(\boldsymbol{x}|\omega) \,.$$
(E.7)

Then we may write

$$\mathcal{G}_{d}(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{x'}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\tau \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}\omega}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\tau' e^{-i\omega(\tau-\tau')} \mathcal{K}_{d}(\boldsymbol{x}-\boldsymbol{x'}|\tau')$$
(E.8)

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\tau \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}\omega}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\tau' e^{-i\omega(\tau-\tau')} \frac{i}{f(\Delta)} K_d(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{x'}|\tau')$$
(E.9)

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\tau \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}\omega}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\tau' e^{-i\omega(\tau-\tau')} \frac{i}{f(-i\partial_{\tau})} K_d(\boldsymbol{x}-\boldsymbol{x'}|\tau')$$
(E.10)

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\tau \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}\omega}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\tau' e^{-i\omega(\tau-\tau')} \frac{i}{f(-\omega)} K_d(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{x'}|\tau') \,. \tag{E.11}$$

In the first equality we have used (E.5), then used the properties of the "heat kernel" via Eq. (E.4), and finally integrated by parts where the boundary terms vanish due to (E.3). The integral over  $\tau$  can be easily calculated assuming that one takes care about its asymptotic behavior and uses the standard regularization. By using the relation

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} d\tau e^{-i\omega\tau} \equiv \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\tau e^{-i(\omega-i\epsilon)\tau} = \frac{-i}{\omega}, \qquad (E.12)$$

one obtains

$$\mathcal{G}_d(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{x'}) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}\omega}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\tau' e^{i\omega\tau'} \frac{1}{\omega f(-\omega)} K_d(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{x'}|\tau'), \qquad (E.13)$$

which is the double Fourier representation for the Green function  $\mathcal{G}_d$  used in the main body of the thesis.

# Appendix F: Static infinite-derivative ghost-free Green functions

Let us consider theories with the form factor  $f(\Delta)$  of the form  $f^N(\Delta) = \exp\left[(-\Delta \ell^2)^N\right]$ , where N is a positive integer number. We refer to such a theory as ghost-free gravity and use the abbreviation  $GF_N$  for such a theory. For N = 0,  $f^0(\Delta) = 1$  and the corresponding theory is nothing but linearized General Relativity. Let us write  $\mathcal{D}_N = f^N(\Delta)\Delta$  and denote by  $\mathcal{G}_d^N$  a static Green function for  $GF_N$  theory in a space with d dimensions. Such a Green function obeys the equation

$$\mathcal{D}_N \mathcal{G}_d^N(r) = -\delta^{(d)}(\boldsymbol{r}) \,. \tag{F.1}$$

For N = 0, that is, in General Relativity, we also use the notation  $G_d(r) = \mathcal{G}_d^0(r)$ . The static Green functions can be found by using Eqs. (2.62) and (2.60). In this appendix we collect exact expressions for these Green functions for General Relativity as well as GF<sub>1</sub> and GF<sub>2</sub> theory for the number of spatial dimensions d = 1, 2, 3, 4. Using the recursive relation (2.62) one can obtain their expression for  $d \geq 5$ . In what follows we will use the abbreviation  $y = (r/4\ell)^2$ .

$$G_1(r) = -\frac{r}{2}, \tag{F.2}$$

$$\mathcal{G}_{1}^{1}(r) = -\frac{r}{2} \mathrm{erf}\left(\frac{r}{2\ell}\right) - \ell \frac{\exp\left[-r^{2}/(4\ell^{2})\right] - 1}{\sqrt{\pi}}, \tag{F.3}$$

$$\mathcal{G}_{1}^{2}(r) = -\frac{\ell}{\pi} \left\{ 2\Gamma(\frac{1}{4})y \,_{1}F_{3}\left(\frac{1}{4}; \frac{3}{4}, \frac{5}{4}, \frac{3}{2}; y^{2}\right) + \Gamma(\frac{3}{4}) \left[ {}_{1}F_{3}\left(-\frac{1}{4}; \frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{3}{4}; y^{2}\right) - 1 \right] \right\}, \quad (F.4)$$

$$G_{2}(r) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log\left(\frac{r}{r_{2}}\right), \quad (F.5)$$

$$\mathcal{G}_2^1(r) = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \operatorname{Ein}\left(\frac{r^2}{4\ell^2}\right), \qquad (F.6)$$

$$\mathcal{G}_{2}^{2}(r) = -\frac{y}{2\pi} \left[ \sqrt{\pi} \, _{1}F_{3}\left(\frac{1}{2}; \ 1, \frac{3}{2}, \frac{3}{2}; \ y^{2}\right) - y \, _{2}F_{4}\left(1, 1; \ \frac{3}{2}, \frac{3}{2}, 2, 2; \ y^{2}\right) \right], \tag{F.7}$$

$$G_3(r) = \frac{1}{4\pi r},$$
(F.8)

$$\mathcal{G}_{3}^{1}(r) = \frac{\operatorname{erf}[r/(2\ell)]}{4\pi r},$$
(F.9)

$$\mathcal{G}_{3}^{2}(r) = \frac{1}{6\pi^{2}\ell} \left[ 3\Gamma\left(\frac{5}{4}\right) {}_{1}F_{3}\left(\frac{1}{4}; \frac{1}{2}, \frac{3}{4}, \frac{5}{4}; y^{2}\right) - 2y\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right) {}_{1}F_{3}\left(\frac{3}{4}; \frac{5}{4}, \frac{3}{2}, \frac{7}{4}; y^{2}\right) \right],$$
(F.10)

$$G_4(r) = \frac{1}{4\pi^2 r^2}, \tag{F.11}$$

$$\mathcal{G}_4^1(r) = \frac{1 - \exp\left[-r^2/(4\ell^2)\right]}{4\pi^2 r^2},\tag{F.12}$$

$$\mathcal{G}_{4}^{2}(r) = \frac{1}{64\pi^{2}y\ell^{2}} \left[ 1 - {}_{0}F_{2}\left(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}; y^{2}\right) + 2\sqrt{\pi}y {}_{0}F_{2}\left(1, \frac{3}{2}; y^{2}\right) \right].$$
(F.13)

Here we use the standard notation  $_{a}F_{b}$  for the hypergeometric function [77].